
N
E

W
 F

R
O

N
TIE

R
 P

R
O

P
E

R
TIE

S LTD
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

IN
TE

G
R

A
TE

D
 A

N
N

U
A

L R
E

P
O

R
T

20
15

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2015



CONTENTS

BUSINESS OVERVIEW 5

Vision, Mission and Values 5

Corporate profile 5

Portfolio overview 6

Operational structure 8

Governance structure 9

Board of Directors 10

STRATEGIC REVIEW 13

External operating environment 13

Strategy and business model 14

Stakeholder engagement 16

PERFORMANCE REVIEW 17

Chairman’s report 18

Chief Executive Officer’s report  
and portfolio review 20

GOVERNANCE, RISK AND COMPLIANCE 25

Corporate governance 25

Risk management 34

Audit and Risk Committee report 37

King III checklist chapter 2 38

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 41

DEFINITIONS 76

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION Inside back cover

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS AND SALIENT FEATURES 1

INTRODUCING NEW FRONTIER’S FIRST INTEGRATED REPORT 2



NEW FRONTIER PROPERTIES LTD
INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2015 1

New Frontier is a UK-based REIT with a retail-focused property portfolio in the UK. Listed on the stock exchanges of Mauritius 
and Johannesburg, its primary objective is to acquire and develop good quality, income-generating retail property in the UK.

The Company provides an opportunity for investors to capitalise on the strong fundamentals of the UK property market, 
earning consistent and growing income returns as well as gaining exposure to capital growth.

New Frontier offers a strategic Rand hedge for South African investors.

• Established in 2014

• HQ in Port Louis, Mauritius

• Listed on SEM in 2014 and JSE 
AltX in 2015

• Converted to UK REIT in Oct 2015

• £282 million portfolio

• Three quality shopping centres

• +1 million sq ft GLA

AT A GLANCE INVESTMENT 
HIGHLIGHTS

• Attractive initial GBP forward 
yield of 7.0%

• Significant opportunities for value 
enhancement in the portfolio

• Offshore property exposure 
with robust and secure offshore 
structure

• Geared property investments in 
low interest rate environment

• Quick and flexible capital raising 
ability

• UK REIT, distributing at least 90% 
of property rental profits

• Quality retail property portfolio 
underpinned by long-term leases, 
low vacancies, strong anchor 
tenants and situated in dominant 
locations 

• Strong value-enhancing 
acquisition pipeline

• Consumer confidence currently at 
its highest since the 1990s

• GDP growth forecast to exceed 
2.5% for the next two years

• Population forecast to grow by 
2 million or 4% by 2020

• Unemployment forecast to fall 
from 5.4% to 5.1% by 2020

• Continuing evidence of real wage 
growth

• Anticipated growth in retail sales 
volume

UK RETAIL 
OVERVIEW

HIGHLIGHTS

•  7% Annualised Distribution Yield GBP (8.1% Rand adjusted)
•  Annualised Net Income 3.2% above forecast
•  Void costs reduced by 9% annualised
•  100% retention on break/lease expiries
•  Core lettings 5.1% above ERV valuation
•  14 new leases currently under offer

Distribution: 3.05p

Assets under management 
(GBP m)

GBP180.23
(Post-year-end GBP282 million)

Net property income  
(GBP m) 5.37
Occupancy 94.9%
Cost to income ratio 15.1%
Gearing/LTV 57.7%
Cost of debt 3.38% 

(80% fixed for five years)
Dividend 7.0%
Dividend yield (R) 8.1%

KEY MILESTONES
June 2014 incorporated, converted to public 

company
November 2014 listed on the SEM
January 2015 listed on JSE’s AltX
March 2015 appointed Waypoint New Frontier Limited 

to execute UK investment strategy
April 2015 acquired Burton and Middlesbrough 

shopping centres
September 2015 acquired Blackpool shopping centre 

(post period end)
October 2015 domiciled for tax purposes in the UK 

joined the UK REIT regime

KEY MILESTONESFINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
eight months 31 August 2015

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS AND SALIENT FEATURES
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INTRODUCING NEW FRONTIER’S FIRST INTEGRATED REPORT

New Frontier is pleased to present its first 
integrated annual report to shareholders and 
stakeholders for the eight-month period from 
1 January to 31 August 2015, following its 
listing on the SEM in November 2014 and JSE’s 
AltX in January 2015. 

This integrated report aims to present a balanced, 
understandable review of the business and provide an 
integrated assessment of the Company’s ability to create 
value over time.

CORPORATE INFORMATION
New Frontier’s executive directors are CEO Michael Riley 
and FD Victoria Whitehouse, both based in London. 
The Company’s non-executive chairman is Sisa Ngebulana.

They can be contacted at 2nd Floor, 86 Brook Street, 
London W1K 5AY, Tel: +44(0)2070163960. For additional 
contact details please see inside back cover. New Frontier 
welcomes feedback and any suggestions for the Company’s 
future reports. Please forward any comments to CEO 
Michael Riley.

KEY DATA
New Frontier Properties Ltd
Registration number: C123368C1/GBL
Incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius on 5 June 2014
SEM share code: NFP.N000
JSE share code: NFP
ISIN: MU0453N00004

MATERIALITY
Materiality has been applied in determining the content and 
disclosure in the report, ensuring the report is both concise 
and relevant to New Frontier’s shareholders. Material issues 
are considered to be those that could affect the Company’s 
ability to create value over time and are likely to have a 
significant impact on the current and projected revenue and 
profitability of the business.

The Company aims to adopt the guidelines outlined in 
the International Integrated Reporting Council’s <IR> 
Framework as appropriate in future years. The <IR> 
Framework includes reporting in terms of the capitals 
of value creation, being financial, intellectual, human, 
manufactured, social and relationship, and natural capital. 
While the Board has chosen not to apply the terminology of 
the capitals in this report, where possible performance and 
activities relative to these capitals are covered throughout 
the integrated report. Asset and property management 
are outsourced and New Frontier has no direct employees. 
Reporting on human capital in this integrated annual report 
is therefore limited. Likewise, disclosure on social and 
relationship and natural capital are minimal as the Company 
only acquired its first assets in April 2015 therefore has not 
been able to assess the impact on the environment and 
local communities.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
This report has been prepared in terms of:

• International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

• Mauritian Companies Act 2001

• SEM Listing Requirements

• Code of Corporate Governance for Mauritius

• Companies Act, No 71 of 2008, of South Africa

• JSE Listings Requirements

• King III Code on Corporate Governance

• Consideration of certain principles contained in the 
International Integrated Reporting Council’s Integrated 
Reporting <IR> Framework
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ASSURANCE
The Company’s external auditor, BDO, has provided 
assurance on the annual financial statements and expressed 
an unqualified audit opinion. The financial statements 
have been prepared under the supervision of Victoria 
Whitehouse, the financial director of New Frontier. The 
content of the integrated report has been reviewed by the 
Board but has not been externally assured.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This report includes forward-looking statements that involve 
inherent risks and uncertainties and, if one or more of these 
risks materialise, or should the underlying assumptions 
prove incorrect, actual results may be different from those 
anticipated. Words such as believe, anticipate, intend, 

seek, will, plan, could, may, endeavour, project and similar 
expressions are intended to identify such forward-looking 
statements, but are not the exclusive means of identifying 
such statements. Forward-looking statements apply only 
as of the date on which they are made, and New Frontier 
does not undertake any obligation to update or revise any of 
them, whether as a result of new information, future events 
or otherwise.

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY
The Audit and Risk Committee and the Board acknowledge 
their responsibility to ensure the integrity of this integrated 
annual report. The annual financial statements included in 
this integrated report have been audited by the external 
auditors.

  

Sisa Ngebulana Michael Riley Daniel Romburgh
Chairman Chief Executive Officer Chairman Audit Committee
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

SECTION

Business overview

VISION, MISSION AND VALUES
New Frontier’s vision is to build a 
reputable retail-focused fund that 
capitalises on the economic growth 
currently underpinning the UK property 
market, with the aim of providing solid 
returns to its shareholders in Mauritius 
and South Africa.
New Frontier’s mission is to seek, acquire and develop assets 
that provide value, cash generation and yield enhancement.

As a relatively young business, New Frontier aims to build 
a reputation for honesty and integrity, recognising that 
its future success will be highly dependent on adopting a 
straightforward and consistent approach in its business 
dealings.

Underpinning all aspects of New Frontier’s business dealings 
are its core values:

• Integrity in business dealings
• Excellence in professional standards
• Commitment and drive in achieving shareholder value
• Compassion for fellow professionals and the wider 

community
• Teamwork

New Frontier’s Directors, staff, agents and advisers are 
expected to act in a manner consistent with the Company’s 
vision, mission and values. A code of ethical conduct has 
been adopted to entrench these principles across the 
Company.

CORPORATE PROFILE
New Frontier is a retail-focused property fund currently 
holding a £282 million portfolio, comprising three dominant 
quality shopping centres in the UK, and looking to acquire 
further suitable assets in pursuit of its investment objectives. 
During 2015 the Company acquired Cleveland Centre in 
Middlesbrough, Coopers Square in Burton upon Trent and 
Houndshill Shopping Centre in Blackpool. New Frontier’s 
Board and asset managers are actively pursuing further 
acquisition opportunities as well as implementing their plans 
for the improvement of the Company’s existing assets.

New Frontier is led by a team of individuals with significant 
experience and successful track records in real estate and 
fund management.

COMPANY BACKGROUND
New Frontier is a property investment company registered 
in Mauritius. It is registered as a public company limited 
by shares and holds a Category 1 Global Business Licence. 
The Company has a primary listing on the SEM and a 
secondary listing on the JSE’s AltX. New Frontier has its 
registered office in Mauritius and its management is based 
in London. During the period, New Frontier’s corporate 
activities were managed from its registered office in 
Mauritius. Following the end of the reporting period, 
the Company’s seat of management transferred to its 
office in the UK, enabling it to enter the UK REIT regime. 
New Frontier’s registered office continues to be located 
in Mauritius.

Asset and property management are outsourced to  
UK-based Waypoint New Frontier Limited and Eddisons 
(Commercial) and Savills, respectively. The Company’s 
independent property valuer is Colliers International.

UK REIT STRUCTURE AND 
DISTRIBUTIONS
On 20 October, New Frontier transferred its tax domicile to 
the UK and elected to join the UK REIT regime with effect 
from 21 October 2015. The UK REIT regime has become a 
globally recognised platform for investment in UK property 
assets, providing exemption from corporation and capital 
gains tax on the Company’s property rental activities, as well 
as security of income with 90% of aggregate net property 
rental income required to be distributed to shareholders.
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PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW

Size (GLA): 

396,504 sq ft

Value: 

£95 million
Offer: 

70+ shops, cafes and 
restaurants

Anchors: 
Marks & Spencer, Primark, Next 
and BHS

Primary catchment population: 

240,000

Size (GLA): 

392,993 sq ft

Value: 

£85.25 million
Offer: 

60+ shops, cafes and 
restaurants; 550-space car park; 
new hotel

Anchors: 
Boots, Topshop, New Look and 
H&M

Primary catchment population: 

550,000

Cleveland Centre is located 
in Middlesbrough, the largest 
centre and most dominant 
retail location in Teesside. 
It has four anchors occupied 
by Boots, Topshop, New 
Look and H&M and has an 
additional 55 units on the 
ground floor. The centre also 
has a 550-space car park on 
the roof, and a new 140-bed 
Holiday Inn Express has 
recently opened adjacent to 
the property.

CLEVELAND CENTRE

Size (GLA):  

301,959 sq ft

Value: 

£101.3 million
Offer: 

65+ shops, cafes and 
restaurants; 750-space car park; 
new hotel

Anchors: 
Debenhams, New Look, River 
Island, Next and H&M

Primary catchment population: 

290,000

Acquired by the Company shortly after the year-
end, the Houndshill Shopping Centre in Blackpool 
is a modern, fully covered, over 300,000 sq ft 
shopping centre, which includes 65 retail units and 
a 750 space car park. The centre is anchored by 
Debenhams, with other major retailers including 
New Look, River Island, Next and H&M. Houndshill is 
the only fully covered shopping centre in Blackpool, 
a popular seaside town that attracts some 13 million 
visitors every year. Located in the shadow of the 
iconic Blackpool Tower, the centre underwent a 
£40 million extension and refurbishment in 2008. 
A total of 77% of the income is secured against 
national tenants and the Weighted Average 
Unexpired Lease Term is 8.5 years.

HOUNDSHILL SHOPPING CENTRE

Coopers Square is a modern, fully 
covered shopping centre in the highly 
desirable Staffordshire town of Burton 
upon Trent, close to the Peak District 
National Park. First opened in 1970, the 
centre has more than 70 shops, cafés 
and restaurants and is anchored by 
Marks & Spencer, Primark, Next and 
BHS. A total of 85% of the income is 
secured against national retailers and 
the Weighted Average Unexpired Lease 
Term is 14.4 years. Burton’s shopping 
population is forecasted to grow by 
7.5% over the period 2013 – 2023.

COOPERS SQUARE
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Staffordshire

Middlesbrough

Blackpool

Geographic spread
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INVESTMENT POLICY AND OVERSIGHT

OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE

Led by Board of Directors

Responsibilities:
• Set the investment policy

• Review and approve each sale

• Monitor investment performance and progress with asset management programme

ASSET MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITIES

Responsibilities in terms of the Asset Management Agreement:
• Sourcing and evaluating suitable property

• Conducting due diligence on properties

• Negotiating disposals of property

• Sourcing and raising equity funding

• Negotiating debt funding and re-financings

• Devising strategies with respect to the Company’s fixed property

• Managing the property portfolio in keeping with the operating standard as directed by the Company

• Preparation of annual budgets, financial reporting, letting policies, and valuations

• Conducting or procurement of strategic and operational research

• Identifying property managers and other service providers

• Ensuring that all administration and regulatory requirements of the Company’s property are met

• Providing non-binding recommendations and other advisory services to the Company with regards to its property 
investments.

All property advisers, managers and agents operate under the direction of Waypoint, who are directly accountable 
to the Board of Directors

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT

Day-to-day management of the Company’s property assets: Eddisons (Commercial) and Savills

Independent property valuers: Colliers International

Property acquisition agents: Coady Supple and Lunson Mitchenall
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GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

NEW FRONTIER BOARD

EXECUTIVE  
DIRECTORS

NOMINATIONS 
COMMITTEE

Michael Riley (CEO)
Victoria Whitehouse (FD)

Sisa Ngebulana (Chair)
Michael Riley

CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE

Andile Mazwai (Chair)
Daniel Romburgh
Kameel Keshav
Michael Riley
William Heaney  
(appointed 21 October 2015)

NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORS

Sisa Ngebulana (Chair)
Kameel Keshav
Daniel Romburgh
Tinesh Ramprusad

INVESTMENT 
COMMITTEE

Kameel Keshav (Chair)
Sisa Ngebulana
Michael Riley
Andile Mazwai

INDEPENDENT  
NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORS

Andile Mazwai
Catherine McIlraith  
(resigned 20 October 2015) 

William Heaney  
(appointed 21 October 2015)

Richard Thomas  
(appointed 21 October 2015)

AUDIT AND RISK 
COMMITTEE

Daniel Romburgh (Chair)
Andile Mazwai
Kameel Keshav
Richard Thomas  
(appointed 21 October 2015)

Catherine McIlraith  
(resigned 20 October 2015)

Directors’ biographies can be found on page 10.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
01  Michael Riley (55)

Chief Executive Officer
Michael has almost 30 years’ experience of 
the real estate sector, notably in financial 
services and fund management. He became 
joint managing director of HBV Real Estate 
Capital in 1999, with responsibility for a loan 
book of over £8 billion, before assuming roles 
at Quintain Estates, latterly as chief executive, 
and Castlemore Securities. In January 2005, 
he became joint CEO of The Local Shopping 
REIT, which subsequently listed on the London 
Stock Exchange and had a UK portfolio of 
over 700 properties. He set up Waypoint 
Asset Management in 2013. Michael serves on 
the Corporate Governance, Nominations and 
Investment Committees.

02 Victoria Whitehouse (42)

Finance Director
Victoria is a chartered accountant and director 
of accountancy practice AHK Consulting 
Services Limited, acting for clients who range 
from owner-managed businesses to companies 
with property portfolios valued in excess 
of £1 billion. Victoria was previously finance 
director of The Local Shopping REIT, group 
financial controller for US REIT ProLogis and a 
senior manager at KPMG LLP.

Non-executive Directors
03 Sisa Ngebulana (49)

Chairman
Sisa has over 23 years of Real Estate 
experience and founded Billion Group, a major 
South African property development and 
investment company, in 1998, and the Rebosis 
Property Fund Ltd, a South African REIT, in 
2010. He has developed a number of regional 
shopping malls in South Africa, including 
Hemingways Mall, Forest Hill City, Mdantsane 
City Baywest City and BT Ngebs City. Sisa is 
an attorney of the High Court of South Africa. 
He has won Entrepreneur of the Year, Pioneer 
and African Business Excellence awards, and is 
a past president of the South African Council of 
Shopping Centres. Sisa chairs the Nominations 
Committee and also serves on the Investment 
Committee.

04 Kameel Keshav (35)

Kameel is a Chartered Accountant with 11 years 
of professional experience with global listed 
entities across the financial services consulting, 
FMCG and mining industries. Kameel is Chief 
Financial Officer of Rebosis Property Fund 
and also serves as the Chief Executive Officer 
of Ascension Properties. He headed up the 
commercial function for Orica South Africa, 
overseeing commercial activity in Africa, 
Middle East and Continental Europe. Kameel 
chairs the Investments Committee and also 
serves on the Corporate Governance and Audit 
and Risk Committees.

05 Daniel Romburgh (33)

Daniel has considerable experience as an 
executive of fund advisory businesses and 
in the administration of investment funds. 
He has been head of operations at Drake 
Fund Advisors and was previously a director 
of Caledonian Fund Services and an accounts 
manager at Beacon Fund Administrators. 
Daniel chairs the Audit and Risk Committee 
and also serves on the Corporate Governance 
Committee.

06 Tinesh Ramprusad (31)

Tinesh has over 12 years’ experience in the 
fields of taxation, auditing and accounting 
for both domestic and global businesses. 
He is a Fellow of the Association of Chartered 
Certified Accountants in the UK and is also a 
licensed practitioner in Mauritius.
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Independent Non-executive Directors
07 Andile Mazwai (44)

Andile is CEO of the National Stokvel 
Association of South Africa and non-executive 
director of JSE Limited and Rebosis Property 
Fund Ltd. He was formerly CEO of Barnard 
Jacobs Mellet Holdings, before it was acquired 
by First National Bank in 2011. Andile chairs the 
Corporate Governance Committee and also 
serves on the Audit and Risk and Investment 
Committees.

08 Richard Thomas (54)

Appointed 21 October 2015
Richard is chairman of UK investor adviser 
Oak Room Capital Partners. A law graduate 
of Cambridge University, he has 25 years’ 
experience of executing transactions across 
real estate, infrastructure and energy sectors, 
including with Land Securities, CB Hillier 
Parker, Rotch Property Group and Consensus 
Business Group. He has also worked for 
NationsBank/Bank of America, financing 
acquisitions for clients such as PepsiCo, GM, 
Hanson and Eurotunnel. Richard serves on the 
Audit and Risk Committee.

09 William Heaney (59)

Appointed 21 October 2015
Bill is a director of Square Root Consulting, 
specialising in corporate strategy and business 
administration. He works with a number 
of businesses, including the property fund 
management group Internos Global Investors. 
He was company secretary and group services 
director at Chesterton International for 16 years 
and was a director of Exchequer Partnership. 
He has been company secretary of The Local 
Shopping REIT since its stock exchange 
listing in 2007. Bill serves on the Corporate 
Governance Committee.

 Executive Directors

 Non-executive Directors

 Independent Non-executive Directors
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STRATEGIC REVIEW

EXTERNAL OPERATING 
ENVIRONMENT
UK ECONOMY
The UK economy has recorded steady growth since the 
major recession of 2008. The 30 September 2015 quarterly 
figures published by the UK government’s Office for 
National Statistics (“ONS”) indicate continued strengthening 
of the UK economy. The ONS analysis shows that growth 
in UK GDP was 2.9% in 2014 and that GDP at the end of 
Quarter 2 2015 was 2.4% ahead of the same point in 2014. 
The Quarter 2 2015 GDP figure was 5.9% ahead of the pre-
recession peak at Quarter 1 2008, with the UK economy 
having returned to expansion in Quarter 2 2013. Significantly, 
real household disposable income was estimated to have 
increased by 2% between Quarter 1 2015 and Quarter 2 
2015. The October 2015 report from the ONS disclosed that 
retail sales in September 2015 grew for the 29th consecutive 
month, and were 6.5% ahead of the September 2014 figure.

The UK’s current account deficit narrowed by more than 
previously predicted during Quarter 2, closing from 5.2% 
of GDP at the end of Quarter 1 to 3.6% of GDP at the end 
of Quarter 2. Overall, the figures indicate that the UK’s 
emergence from the recession is comparable with other 
major western economies, such as Germany and the 
United States.

A separate survey by the Chartered Institute of Procurement 
and Supply (5 October 2015) indicated that the UK’s 
important services sector experienced a slowing in growth 
during Quarter 3, with global economic uncertainty 
affecting customer confidence. However, overall activity 
continued to rise in line with long-term average growth, with 
strong growth in employment levels during the quarter and 
future activity expectations remaining solid.

At its early October review, the Bank of England maintained 
UK interest rates at their record low of 0.5%, where they 
have been for more than six years. It appears likely that 
this policy will continue for the time being, with the Bank 
commenting that UK labour market cost pressures had yet 
to influence the inflation rate, which the Bank expects to 
remain below 1% until early 2016. It also noted that, while 

domestic activity had been affected by budget deficit 
measures, UK consumer spending remained resilient, 
bolstered by wage growth.

UK PROPERTY INVESTMENT MARKET
Market commentators continue to report positive sentiment 
and prospects for the UK property market as a whole, with 
the latest Investment Property Forum consensus forecast 
indicating total returns from UK property of 13.9% for 2015, 
an improving outlook for 2016 and capital growth forecast 
at 2.4% per annum to end-2019. Continued inflows into 
UK property funds and interest from overseas investors 
are predicted to give rise to compression in prime yields, 
particularly amongst provincial offices, distribution and 
multi-let industrial assets. Shortage of stock in London 
has led investors seeking value elsewhere, with provincial 
activity levels at their highest since 2006. Investor appetite 
for prime shops in London remains high, often driven by 
overseas interest. Out of London, demand is healthy in top 
regional towns, with investors driving down yields in areas 
of strong rental growth and low vacancy levels.

UK RETAIL SECTOR
Household spending grew by 0.8% during Quarter 2, up 
3.1% compared to Quarter 2 2014, according to the ONS 
Consumer Trends Survey (30 September 2015). Household 
spending volume has continuously increased in each quarter 
since Quarter 4 2007. Real wages have seen a sharp increase 
in 2014/15, which is expected to normalise at around 2% 
per annum by 2018. The continuing effect of the major 
reduction in oil prices is also expected to feed into consumer 
spending. With consumer expectations and occupier 
demand remaining optimistic, expectations are for national 
average retail rents to grow by 2.3% per annum during 2016-
19, with more favoured towns expected to outperform this 
average.

Retail rental growth is expected to be further assisted by the 
anticipated fall in unemployment from 5.4% to 5.1% by 2020 
and the expected population growth of 4.4 million over the 
coming decade.

UK SHOPPING CENTRE MARKET
Market commentators note that provincial shopping centres 
are seeing increased signs of activity and rental growth. Up 
to September 2015, the UK market saw 47 shopping centre 
transactions with a total value of £2.965 billion (Colliers 
International), compared to 77 shopping centre transactions 
with a total value of £5.55 billion for the whole of 2014 
(Property Data).

The latest Colliers UK Shopping Centre Survey points out 
that some towns with rents in the £40 to £60 psf Zone A 
range have seen annual uplifts of £5 psf. Whilst noting that 
centre vacancy rates nationally remain high (with their own 
sampling indicating an average vacancy rate of 14.7% in 
April 2015), Colliers emphasises the divergence in vacancy 
rates between the prime locations and poor secondary and 
tertiary pitches, which contribute to the high overall figure. 
It is anticipated that much of this stock is redundant and will 
ultimately be converted to other uses.

It seems clear that retailers, reacting to shopping trends, 
are becoming increasingly selective about locations. 
Thus the centres that are likely to win out are those that are 
dominant in their local market and benefit from proactive 
management and a diverse offering, particularly those that 
can operate in conjunction with internet marketing.

The Board is pleased with the progress of the Company 
and has confirmed its support to growing its retail portfolio 
significantly over the coming years.

SECTION

Strategic review
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STRATEGY AND BUSINESS MODEL

For the short term:  
We aim to raise capital on a project  
by project basis over the next  
12 – 36 months in order to acquire 
five to ten new shopping 
centres in other retail areas of the UK.

For the medium term:  
We aim to grow the value of 
the portfolio to £500 million within 
the next 12 months and to  
£1 billion within the next 24 months 
(currently worth £282 million).

For the long term:  
We aim to provide solid 
returns to our shareholders 
in Mauritius and South Africa by 
building a reputable retail-focused 
property portfolio in the UK and 
thereby exposing them to the strong 
economic growth underpinning the 
UK property market.

To acquire and develop 
good-quality, income-generating 
retail property in the UK.

To target assets that are 
dominant, quality retail centres 
of at least 160,000 sq ft with 
a high proportion of national 
retailers, strong asset management 
opportunities and sustainable 
income.

To strengthen the property 
portfolio with long-term leases, low 
vacancies and strong anchor tenants.

THE MISSION  

is to seek, acquire and develop assets that 
provide value, cash generation and yield 
enhancement.

THE VISION  

is to build a reputable retail-focused property 
company that capitalises on the economic 
growth currently underpinning the UK property 
market.

INVESTMENT STRATEGYSTRATEGIC OBJECTIVES



STRATEGIC REVIEW

NEW FRONTIER SEEKS TO ACQUIRE 
AND INVEST IN RETAIL CENTRES 
THAT MEET THE PARAMETERS OF THE 
INVESTMENT STRATEGY.

The Company looks to 
add further value to its 
properties through efficient 
management, providing an 
environment that customers 
enjoy and within which 
retailers can trade profitably.

New Frontier takes a 
proactive approach to 
retailers’ requirements, 
through internal remodelling, 
extending stores where 
possible and acquiring 
additional adjacent land 
where this will enhance 
the centre.

This approach will enable the 
Company to grow its rental 
income, generating a strong 
profit stream, and enhancing 
capital value, for the benefit 
of its shareholders.

INVESTMENT PROCESS

The directors set the investment 
strategy and objectives and 
review and approve each 
purchase or sale of investment 
assets.

The Asset Manager is responsible 
for identifying and reporting to 
New Frontier the availability of 
new investment opportunities that 
fall within the investment policy 
and objectives.

The Asset Manager is responsible 
for negotiating the detailed terms 
of the acquisition and ongoing 
management of investment assets 
following approval by the Board.

NEW FRONTIER PROPERTIES LTD
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Board believes that establishing enduring and strong partnerships with the Company’s stakeholders is crucial to 
managing the risks and capitalising on the opportunities arising from its business activities. Key stakeholders are groups who 
have an impact on New Frontier’s business strategy and are materially impacted by its business activities. Given the fluid 
nature of stakeholder interests, the Company recognises that analysis and management needs to be ongoing and receptive 
to change.

New Frontier’s approach to stakeholder engagement is to communicate openly and to incorporate actionable, meaningful 
feedback into its business decisions. The Company sees stakeholder engagement as a mutually beneficial process that both 
informs New Frontier’s growth strategy and encourages a positive reputation among its stakeholders.

KEY STAKEHOLDERS WHAT MATTERS TO THEM HOW NEW FRONTIER ENGAGES WHO IS RESPONSIBLE

Investors • Distribution consistency

• Stable investment performance

• Accessibility of executives

• Timeous information

• Risk management

• Ability to execute on strategy

• Value extraction

• Investor presentations

• 1:1 meetings

• AGM

• Media

• Chairman

• CEO

Lenders/providers 
of capital

• Capital management

• Sustainability

• Investment performance

• Cash generation

• Corporate governance and 
compliance

• Risk management

• Contractually required 
information flow

• Regular ad hoc meetings

• CEO

• FD

Asset manager • Consistent performance

• Fair mandate conditions

• Asset management agreement

• Board engagements

• Chairman

• CEO

• FD

Property managers • Good working environment

• Support from Asset Manager

• Asset management • CEO

• FD

Tenants • Property management

• Reasonable rentals and 
escalations

• Location of property

• Footfall

• Good upkeep and maintenance 
of buildings

• Asset management

• Property management

• CEO

Auditors • Corporate governance and 
compliance

• Risk management

• Accessibility of executives

• Reliable information

• Regular information flow

• Formal and ad hoc meetings

• Chairman

• CEO

• FD

• Board Committee 
Chairmen

Independent valuers • Reliable and timeous 
information

• Regular information flow

• Formal and ad hoc meetings

• CEO

• FD

• Investment Committee 
Chairman
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

It is a great pleasure to report on the progress made by 
New Frontier in its first eight months of operation. A great 
deal has been accomplished. The Board and management 
have made a successful beginning to the execution of the 
Company’s strategy, in fulfilment of the commitments made 
to shareholders.

I am delighted to welcome our new shareholders, and 
pleased that we are already delivering returns to our 
cornerstone investors.

New Frontier was established with the objective of acquiring 
and developing good quality income generating property 
assets primarily in markets outside South Africa. After 
investigating opportunities in leading economies, we 
identified the UK as providing the best opportunity for the 
Company’s growth, with a large and liquid property market, 
good infrastructure and ease of doing business.

The UK economy is on a growth path, with attractive 
fundamentals for external investors. Domestic demand 
remains strong, buoyed by lower oil prices and continuing 
low interest rates. UK GDP growth is expected to average 
around 2.4% in 2016, driven mainly by consumer spending 
and business investment. (PwC UK Economic Outlook 
November 2015: Summary report). Falling unemployment 
and low interest rates are having a positive impact on 
consumer spending, bolstering the retail sector.

For the Company’s South African investors, New Frontier 
offers a strategic Rand hedge, with exposure to hard 
currency in Sterling. During the year, the Board decided 
that it would be to shareholders’ benefit for the Company to 
become a UK REIT, providing a strong distribution stream as 
we grow the fund. This was achieved in October 2015, when 
the Company’s tax domicile moved to the UK and we joined 
the UK REIT regime.

New Frontier is led by its Board of Directors. Our board 
comprises a strategic balance of high-level property 
experience, financial skills and independent oversight. In 
March 2015 we appointed Waypoint New Frontier Limited 
(“Waypoint”) as the Company’s asset manager. Waypoint 
is a subsidiary of Waypoint Asset Management Limited, 
an asset management company with extensive property 
experience across multiple sectors in the UK.

We are now executing a strategy of investing in dominant 
retail centres across the UK, having successfully acquired 
three such properties during the last 12 months. Our 
secondary listing on the JSE’s AltX in January 2015 raised 
£84 million (R1.5 billion), which was deployed in funding the 
Company’s first two acquisitions. Shortly after the year-end 
we acquired Houndshill Shopping Centre in Blackpool in 
the UK, which was funded through a combination of debt 
funding, secured from Deutsche Pfandbriefbank in the UK, 
and new equity.

The Board therefore believes that New Frontier is well 
positioned to create shareholder value well into the future.

In executing our corporate strategy, New Frontier strives for 
the highest standards of corporate governance. This report 
sets out the robust governance structures that have been 
implemented across the Company during the period under 
review.

We identified the UK 
as providing the best 
opportunity for the 
Company’s growth, 
with a large and liquid 
property market, good 
infrastructure and ease of 
doing business.
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I would like to extend my appreciation to my fellow directors 
and the asset management team for the commitment and 
enthusiasm they have demonstrated. In particular I would 
like to thank Catherine McIlraith, who left the Board shortly 
after the year-end, for her support during her time on 
the Board.

Sisa Ngebulana
Chairman
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT AND PORTFOLIO REVIEW

The Company’s executive management is delighted with the 
progress that has been achieved since we joined the New 
Frontier team in March 2015.

Most importantly, we have our first three shopping centre 
assets, two of which were purchased during the reporting 
period and the third shortly thereafter. Each of the 
properties fully accords with the Company’s investment 
criteria covering centre characteristics and location, tenant 
quality, asset management and improvement opportunities.

The centres acquired during the reporting period are 
performing well, with net operating income on an 
annualised basis increasing by 3.2% for both centres and 
annualised cost decreasing by 9%. We are now working 
hard to implement the business plans we have prepared 
for each property. New lettings have been 5.1% above ERV 
and we have also seen a 100% tenant retention rate on 
expiring leases.

As a result, we achieved our distribution forecasts for the 
period, with a yield of 7.0% (Sterling – Rand: 8.1%). We are 
confident that this is a sign of things to come with growth 
in distribution continuing into the future. We have had a 
good uptake of newly available space and we currently have 
14 units under offer to existing or new tenants.

We are following up on opportunities to acquire further 
assets in accordance with the Company’s expansion 
plans. However, this activity is not detracting from our 
asset management work on the existing properties, which 
continues apace. Each of our centres has a well-researched 
asset management plan to react to the needs of individual 
tenants as well as the overall enhancement of the centre 
and enhancement of income and value. Our plans involve 
movement of tenants into space more suited to their needs, 
the physical expansion of units, improvement of parking and 
service areas and the enhancement of public areas within 
the centres.

During the period we also worked towards the movement 
of the Company’s tax domicile to the United Kingdom, 
enabling us to join the UK REIT regime, which we achieved 
shortly after the year-end. In addition to the advantages 
of the tax regime, we believe that UK REIT status will 
provide a platform for the Company’s future growth. We are 
considering other means of enhancing shareholder value, 
including moving to the Main Board of the JSE as a means of 
improving liquidity in the Company’s shares.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS TO 
31 AUGUST 2015
Overall occupancy based on ERV 94.9%
Core lease retentions 100%
Core letting above ERV 5.1%
Cost-to-income ratio 15.1%
Value of portfolio £180.2 million
Gross rental income £5.33 million
Dividend yield (growth) 7.0%
Results distribution 3.05p per share

We achieved our 
distribution forecasts for 
the period, with a yield 
of 7.0% (Sterling – Rand: 
8.1%). We are confident 
that this is a sign of things 
to come with growth in 
distribution continuing 
into the future.
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW

GROWING AND ENHANCING OUR ASSET BASE
In developing our real estate portfolio focused on retail assets in the UK market, we aim 
for the portfolio to be underpinned by long-term leases, low vacancies and strong anchor 
tenants, with the properties situated in dominant locations.

On 26 March 2015, the Company raised £84.1 million, net of issue costs. Together with 
debt of £104.2 million, this was used to purchase two shopping centres in the UK towns of 
Burton upon Trent and Middlesbrough for £179 million on 14 April 2015. Both centres are 
dominant in their towns and offer approximately 789,500 sq ft of retail shopping.

These centres have been revalued at 31 August 2015 by independent valuers, Colliers 
International, and are valued at £180.25 million, creating an increase from purchase of 
£1.25 million with a current net initial yield of 6.55%.

PROPERTY LOCATION GLA sq ft
ACQUISITION

 DATE COST VALUATION

Coopers 
Square

Burton upon 
Trent

396,504 14 April 2015 £93,375,000 £95,000,000

The 
Cleveland 
Centre

Middlesbrough 392,993 14 April 2015 £85,250,000 £85,250,000

Total 789,497

On 17 September 2015, following the end 
of the reporting period, the Company 
raised a further £44 million (net of issue 
costs) via a private placing. These funds, 
together with debt of £59.7 million, were 
used to purchase the third shopping centre 
in the portfolio, Houndshill in Blackpool, 
for £105 million.

In line with our strategy, all the properties 
are located in key regional markets that 
continue to demonstrate improving 
demographic trends and have seen their 
retail market fundamentals significantly 
improve since the downturn. The three 
centres are centrally located and are the 
dominant centres within their respective 
towns.

We plan to grow the portfolio significantly 
in the next 12 months and we are 
currently evaluating a number of potential 
acquisitions.

FY 2015 PERFORMANCE 
REVIEW
Rental income
The combined annualised net operational 
income is £12.3 million per annum with 
88% of the income coming from national 
operators.

Combined income analysis:  
Burton upon Trent and 
Middlesbrough

PORTFOLIO KEY FEATURE

Equity raise valuation £179 million
31 August 2015 accounts 
valuation £180.2 million
Number of assets 2
Number of letting units 165
Total gross lettable area 789,479 sq ft
Property NIY 6.55%
Property RY 6.32%
Property EY 6.38%
WAULT certain 10.08 years
WAULT to expiries 10.46 years

INCOME BY COVENANT TYPE

Car Park
Government/LA
Local retailer

Mall commercialisation
National multiple
Regional multiple
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT AND PORTFOLIO REVIEW 
continued

Portfolio key features

OCCUPIER

PERCENTAGE 
OF INCOME

(%)

TOTAL 
INCOME

(£)
NUMBER 

OF UNITS

Boots UK Ltd 8.38 1,144,323 4
New Look 6.90 943,000 2
Topshop 4.18 571,000 2
Marks & Spencer 4.02 549,000 1
BHS Ltd 3.76 514,000 2
WH Smith 3.7 506,150 2
Car Park income 3.20 437,103 2
Other 65.86 8,998,110

Rental value per square foot (sq ft)

CENTRE RENTAL VALUE PER SQUARE FOOT (sq ft)

Burton upon Trent £15.76
Middlesbrough £14.29

MAJOR TENANTS BY INCOME

New Look
Topshop
Marks & Spencer

WH Smith
Car Park income
Other

Boots UK Ltd BHS Ltd

PORTFOLIO KEY FEATURES

New Look
Topshop
Marks & Spencer

WH Smith
Car Park income
Other

Boots UK Ltd BHS Ltd

Letting activity and lease renewals
The centres have a combined occupancy 
of 94.9% by ERV. Since their purchase in 
April, New Frontier has managed 18 leasing 
events, eight of which are core long-term 
leasing events at an average rent increase 
of 5.05% above ERV.

Retention of tenants is very important to 
our centres and the Board is pleased to 
report that we retained 100% of the eight 
core leases, accounting for 4.4% of the 
rent roll, that were subject to break options 
or lease expiries at the time of purchase. 
There is good occupier demand for our 
centres with 14 units currently under offer 
on either short-term or long-term lettings. 
A number of asset management initiatives 
are under way within both schemes, which 
will allow us to improve the quality of space 
we offer to our tenants, allowing them to 
expand and improve their profitability.

Portfolio analysis
Weighted average unexpired lease term

WAULT
 CERTAIN

yrs

WAULT TO
 EXPIRY

yrs

Burton upon Trent 14.95 14.31
Middlesbrough 6.37 6.25
Combined 10.08 10.46

Gross rental income lease to expiry

YEAR %

Vacant 3.95
<1 year 13.31
2017 24.35
2018 8.88
2019 5.27
2020 6.29
2021 2.23
>2022 39.66

Post-year-end portfolio analysis

PORTFOLIO KEY FEATURES

Portfolio value £282 million
Number of assets 3
Number of letting units over 225
Total retail sales area 1,091,456 sq ft
Portfolio gross rent roll £20.6 million
Portfolio market rent £18.4 million
WAULT certain 9.3 years
WAULT to expires 9.8 years
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MAJOR TENANTS BY INCOME

New Look
Boots UK Ltd
Debenhams

Topshop
Marks & Spencer
Others

Car Park income H&M

OCCUPIER

PERCENTAGE 
OF INCOME

(%)

TOTAL 
INCOME

(£)
NUMBER 

OF UNITS

Car Park income 6.58 1,358,414 3
New Look 6.46 1,333,000 3
Boots UK Ltd 5.94 1,226,823 5
Debenhams 3.11 641,392 1
H&M 2.98 615,000 2
Topshop 2.77 571,000 2
Marks & Spencer 2.66 549,000 1
Others 69.50 14,344,754

RISK ANALYSIS
The Company’s approach to risk is set out 
in the Risk Report and our risk matrix which 
can be found on page 34.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND 
SOCIAL IMPACT
As we only began our property acquisition 
programme in April 2015, it has not 
been practicable to assess the impact 
of our operations on the environment 
and local communities. However, we are 
in no doubt that the well-being of the 
communities served by our property 
assets is crucial to the success of our 
business. This is a factor that we bear in 
mind in our decision-making with regard 
to the activities and development of 
the centres we own. All our contractors 
are required to operate within the latest 
energy, resource saving and environmental 
impact guidelines and we will always seek 
to engage with all stakeholders, including 
local community leaders, in advance of any 
construction activity.

LOOKING AHEAD
We believe the UK retail sector will remain 
healthy, with continued growth in GDP and 
consumer spending. We look forward, with 
the continued support of our investors, 
to creating a strong portfolio through the 
acquisition of further suitable assets.

APPRECIATION
I would like to thank the board for their 
sound advice and guidance since last 
March and our shareholders for their 
continuing support. Our asset management 
and acquisition teams and our advisers, 
managers and agents have worked 
tirelessly and their contributions are much 
appreciated.

Michael Riley
Chief Executive Officer

PERFORMANCE REVIEW
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GOVERNANCE, RISK AND COMPLIANCE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
INTRODUCTION
I am delighted to report that New Frontier has successfully 
transitioned significant corporate governance milestones 
arising from its market listings in Mauritius and Johannesburg 
and its new status as a UK REIT. This is the first such structure 
in the market; a pioneering and innovative accomplishment 
which has since been emulated by other South African REITs.  
It is important to consider the Corporate Governance Report 
set out below in the context of the separate steps involved in 
this process, all of which were achieved during or immediately 
prior to the reporting period.

The Company’s life began when Messrs Peter Todd and 
Hendrik Barnhoon incorporated the Company in Mauritius 
and acquired a transitional asset, Costal Building; serving 
as its founding directors from June 2014 to March and June 
of the following year respectively. They were joined on the 
Board later in the month of incorporation by Miss Dianne 
Bosman, Messrs Daniel Romburgh and Brendan Jones and 
then Mr Gary Fourie in October. This Board successfully 
set up the Company’s Guernsey subsidiaries and listed 
the Company on the Mauritius and Johannesburg stock 
exchanges. 

With this task completed, Miss Bosman, Messrs Jones and 
Fourie resigned in March 2015, making way for Messrs 
Sisa Ngebulana, Kameel Keshav and Andile Mazwai to join 
the Board from South African parent company Rebosis.  
This Board appointed Waypoint as its asset manager, 
and acquired the Company’s first UK assets. In April 2015 
Mr Michael Riley and Ms Victoria Whitehouse of Waypoint 
joined the Board as CEO and FD respectively. Mauritian 
nationals Mrs Catherine McIlraith and Mr Tinesh Ramprusad 
joined the Board in June 2015.

In the final phase of a busy 16 months, the Company moved 
its tax domicile to the United Kingdom and qualified as a UK 
REIT. Mrs McIlraith resigned in October, and the Company 
appointed Messrs William Heaney and Richard Thomas, both 
resident in the UK, to the Board.

The Corporate Governance Report set out below has 
been prepared in accordance with the Mauritian Code of 
Corporate Governance as published by the Ministry of 
Economic Development, Financial Services and Corporate 
Affairs.  However, the Company has regulatory obligations 
across a number of jurisdictions, and in balancing the 

requirements of its relevant regulators, the Company has 
applied substance over form to achieve material compliance.

The Company’s governance philosophy reflects the words of 
Mr Tim Taylor, the Chairman of the Mauritian Committee on 
Corporate Governance; “good governance is about trust and 
stewardship in and by corporate leaders. These principles 
are not in conflict with the essential purpose of business 
enterprise to seek legitimate return on risk capital.  In fact, 
good governance is the leverage, not the constraint in 
achieving that end.”

As the Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee, 
I wish to recognise the important work performed by the 
Board and to thank the Directors who have retired from 
the Board, having served New Frontier with diligence and 
integrity: Mmes McIlraith, Bosman and Messrs Barhoon, 
Fourie, Jones and Todd.

Andile Mazwai

Chairman, Corporate Governance Committee

Date: 21 October 2015

The Company’s corporate governance arrangements are 
described in the Corporate Governance Report, which is 
set out below and complies with the requirements of the 
Financial Reporting Act 2004 of Mauritius, to which the 
Company is subject. So far as is practicable, the Company 
also seeks to comply with applicable regulations and 
guidelines in the other jurisdictions in which it operates, 
including the King III Code applying to companies listed 
in South Africa.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT – 
FINANCIAL PERIOD ENDED 31 AUGUST 
2015
Statement of compliance
(Section 75(3) of the Financial Reporting Act 2004 of 
Mauritius)

Name of Public Interest Entity: New Frontier Properties Ltd

Reporting Period: 1 January 2015 to 31 August 2015

We, the Directors of New Frontier Properties Ltd, confirm 
that, to the best of our knowledge, the public interest entity 
has complied with the Code of Corporate Governance other 
than as set out below:

Section 2 – Board and Directors

2.2.2 The Company did not have a minimum of two 
Independent Directors at all times during the period.

3.9.1 The chairman of the Company’s Audit and Risk 
Committee during the period is not considered 
Independent for the purposes of the Code.

3.9.2 The Corporate Governance Committee did not have 
a majority of Independent Non-executive Directors 
during the period and its chairman was not an 
Independent Non-executive Director.

3.9.5 The Nominations Committee did not have a majority 
of Non-executive Directors during the period.

The above derogations from the Code arose because 
the Company did not have sufficient Independent 
Non-executive Directors during the period. While 
the Board’s policy is that a majority of Directors 

SECTION

Governance, risk and 
compliance
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE continued

INTRODUCTION
New Frontier Properties Ltd operates under corporate governance policies that embrace the principles and recommendations 
set out in the Report on Corporate Governance for Mauritius dated October 2003. The Company is also committed to 
fulfilling the objectives of the King III Code applying to companies whose shares are traded in South Africa. The Board of 
New Frontier is responsible for the application of the principles contained in the King III code and operates in accordance 
with terms of reference that comply with King III.

COMPANY STRUCTURE AND SHAREHOLDING
The holding structure of the Company as at the date of this report is set out below:

Shareholding
At 31 August 2015, the issued and fully paid-up share 
capital of the Company was 104,389,880 shares, each of 
no par value.

As at 31 August 2015, the following shareholders had 
holdings exceeding 5% of the Company’s total shares in 
issue:

Delfitime Pty Ltd 9.448%
Delfisat Pty Ltd 8.923%
Delfiflo Pty Ltd 8.923%
Delfiwiz Pty Ltd 8.923%
Lesasign Pty Ltd 8.923%

Delficraft Pty Ltd 8.923%
Clyroplex Pty Ltd 7.873%
Prescient Global Qualified Investor  
Type Fund PLC 6.227%
Stenham Trustees Ltd as Trustees  
of Leo Minor Trust 5.418%

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
The Directors who served during the period were appointed 
to serve by resolutions of the Board and their appointments 
are not subject to fixed terms of service. There are no signed 
service agreements between individual Directors and the 
Company.

100%

COMPANY STRUCTURE AND SHAREHOLDING

New Frontier Properties Ltd
(Mauritius)

Rebosis Properties Ltd
(South Africa)

BCC Eiffel SARL
(Luxembourg)

New Frontier Luxembourg 
SARL (Luxembourg)

Middlesbrough 
Shopping Centre Ltd
(Guernsey)

Middlesbrough Holdings 
Ltd (Guernsey)

Burton Shopping Centre 
Ltd
(Guernsey)

Burton Investments Ltd
(Guernsey)

New Frontier  
Guernsey 1 Limited
(Guernsey)

100%

100% 100%

100%

shall be Independent and Non-executive, the Board 
considered that whilst the Company was newly 
established, the expense of appointing additional 
Independent Non-executive Directors was not 
justified. Following the period end, the Board has 
taken action to address this matter through the 
appointment of two Independent Non-executive 
Directors. The Board considers that the Chairman of 
the Audit and Risk Committee has the requisite skills 
and experience to chair the Committee effectively.

3.9.3 The Company has not established a separate Board 
Risk Committee, the Board having decided that due 
to the Company’s size and the relative simplicity of 
its business model, the risk management process 
can be adequately managed by the Company’s Audit 
and Risk Committee.

5.3 The Company has not established an internal audit 
function, the Board having decided that the cost of 
this is not justified bearing in mind the Company’s 
size and the relative simplicity of its business model. 
The Board will consider the need for an internal 
audit function on an annual basis, taking account of 
advice from the Audit and Risk Committee and the 
Company’s auditors. The last such consideration was 
on 27 May 2015.

Signed by:

 
Tinesh Ramprusad Daniel Romburgh
Director Director

Date: 21 October 2015 Date: 21 October 2015
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CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
Other than as stated below there was no contract of 
significance subsisting during the period to which the 
Company is a party and in which a Director was materially 
interested, either directly or indirectly.

During the reporting period, Rebosis Property Fund Ltd, 
which has a substantial shareholding in the Company 
(and of which Sisa Ngebulana, Kameel Keshav and Andile 
Mazwai are Directors), provided underwriting services to 
the Company in connection with the raising of shareholder 
capital (see note 23.2 to the Financial Statements).

Michael Riley is a Director of Waypoint New Frontier Limited 
(“Waypoint”), which has a contract with the Company to act 
as its asset manager. He is also a shareholder of Waypoint’s 
parent company, Waypoint Asset Management Limited.

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company aims to supply its shareholders with ongoing 
returns in the form of stable dividends. The dividend policy 
during the period was as follows:

The Company in general meeting may declare dividends 
but may not declare a larger dividend than that declared by 
the Directors, and no dividend may be declared and paid 
except out of profits and unless the Directors determine that 
immediately after the payment of the dividend:
1. The Company shall be able to satisfy the solvency test 

in accordance with section 6 of the Companies Act 
2001; and

2. The realisable value of the assets of the Company will 
not be less than the sum of its total liabilities, other than 
deferred taxes, as shown in the books of account, and its 
capital.

Interim dividends – The Directors may from time to time pay 
to the shareholders such interim dividends as appear to the 
Directors to be justified by the surplus of the Company.

Subject to the rights of holders of shares entitled to special 
rights as to dividends, all dividends shall be declared and 
paid equally on all shares in issue at the date of declaration 
of the dividend.

Following the end of the reporting period, the Company 
resolved to amend its constitution, in anticipation of 
entering the Real Estate Investment Trust (“REIT”) tax 
regime of the United Kingdom. These amendments include 
new provisions relating to dividend distributions in order to 
fulfil the requirements of the REIT regime.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board of Directors is responsible to Shareholders 
for setting the direction of the Company through the 
establishment of strategic objectives and key policies. 
The Board holds ultimate responsibility for and control 
over the Company’s affairs and monitors the operational 
activities and decisions of the asset manager. The Board 
is responsible for the Company’s corporate governance 
system, and is ultimately accountable for its activities. 
In particular, the Board:
• Assesses and approves strategic plans;
• Approves financial plans and budgets;
• Monitors operational performance; and
• Determines processes for risk management and internal 

controls.

The Board’s policy is that the majority of Directors shall be 
independent and non-executive.

The following Directors held office during the period:

Sisa Ngebulana (Chairman)* – appointed 25 March 2015
Kameel Keshav* – appointed 25 March 2015
Daniel Romburgh* – appointed 20 June 2014

Tinesh Ramprusad* – appointed 22 June 2015
Andile Mazwai* – appointed 25 March 2015
Catherine McIlraith** –  appointed 22 June 2015, 

resigned 20 October 2015
Michael Riley – appointed 7 April 2015
Victoria Whitehouse – appointed 7 April 2015
Brendon Jones –  appointed 20 June 2014, 

resigned 25 March 2015
Gary Fourie –  appointed 20 October 2014, 

resigned 25 March 2015
Hendrik Barnhoon –  appointed 5 June 2014, 

resigned 22 June 2015
Peter Todd –  appointed 5 June 2014, 

resigned 25 March 2015
Diane Bosman –  appointed 20 June 2014, 

resigned 25 March 2015.

Richard Thomas** and William Heaney** were appointed on 
21 October 2015, following the end of the reporting period.

* Non-executive

** Independent non-executive

Sisa Ngebulana, Kameel Keshav, Daniel Romburgh, Tinesh 
Ramprusad, Andile Mazwai, Catherine McIlraith, Michael 
Riley and Victoria Whitehouse were re-elected to the Board 
at the Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 
29 June 2015.

Biographies of the Company’s Directors are set out on 
pages 10 and 11.

All major strategic decisions are taken by the Board as a 
whole and there is a formal schedule of items reserved for 
consideration by the Board. The Board constitutes the senior 
management of the Company. The Board meets regularly 
to review the Company’s operations and progress with the 
Company’s investment strategy. Each Board meeting has a 
formal agenda and key items, such as portfolio performance 
and progress with acquisitions, are reviewed on a regular 
basis. The Board also monitors finance, risk, corporate 
responsibility and environmental matters. All Directors 
receive relevant reports and papers prior to each meeting. 
Additional meetings and discussions take place outside 
the Board’s regular meeting schedule as the need arises. 
The executive Directors consult the Non-executive Directors 
on a regular basis. The Non-executive Directors also hold 
discussions in the absence of the Executive Directors.

The responsibilities of each Director have been made clear 
to them and they are provided with written material on the 
Company’s corporate governance arrangements, including 
the Board Charter and the terms of reference of the Board’s 
committees. All Directors have access to the advice and 
services of the Company Secretary and also have access to 
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense.

The following Directors are also directors of other 
companies listed on public stock exchanges:
• Daniel Romburgh: Green Flash Properties Ltd
• Sisa Ngebulana: Rebosis Property Fund Ltd
• Kameel Keshav: Rebosis Property Fund Ltd
• Andile Mazwai: Rebosis Property Fund Ltd.

BOARD CHARTER
The Board has adopted a charter in the terms set out below.

Board members are the link between the shareholders 
and the Company and are collectively responsible to lead 
and control the Company to enable it to attain its strategic 
objectives. In discharging its duties, the Board should be 
guided by the interests of the Company and its business 
and shall take into account the interest of the stakeholders.

GOVERNANCE, RISK AND COMPLIANCE
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The broad responsibilities of the Board are to:

• Set the Company’s vision, mission and values

• Determine the strategy and policy of the Company and its 
subsidiaries to achieve those objectives

• Monitor and evaluate the implementation of strategies, 
policies and performance measurements

• Exercise leadership, enterprise, integrity and judgement 
in directing the Company

• Identify and assess key risk areas of the business and 
ensure measures are taken to mitigate those risks

• Ensure that effective internal controls systems are in place 
to safeguard the Company’s assets

• Ensure compliance with laws and regulations, including 
risk management and corporate governance practices and 
disclosure requirements

• Assess auditors’ work both internal and external

• Approve the annual report

• Evaluate performance and review compensation of senior 
management and Directors

• Ensure adequate succession planning

• Ensure adoption of good corporate governance practices

• Ensure effective communication with shareholders.

In order to meet all the legal and regulatory requirements 
and effectively discharge its duties, including the exercise of 
adequate oversight of the activities of the subsidiaries and 
other entities of the group, the Board may delegate some of 
its functions to specialised board committees. From time-
to-time, the Board may delegate specific assignments 
to Directors or other parties to better guide the Board in 
important matters requiring significant expertise. Delegation 
however does not discharge the Board from its duties and 
responsibilities and while delegating authorities, the Board 
should bear in mind its fiduciary duties and responsibilities 
under the Companies Act.

Since the end of the reporting period, the Board has 
reviewed its charter in the light of the Company’s election 
to enter the UK REIT regime.

Board composition
The Board should be composed of at least four members 
and should not exceed 12 members, as determined in 
consultation with the Corporate Governance Committee, 
provided that:

• the board shall include two Mauritian resident Directors 
while the Company is required to meet the GBC1 licensing 
requirements; and

• the number of Directors resident for tax purposes in a 
jurisdiction other than the United Kingdom (“UK”) shall be 
less than the number of Directors solely resident in the UK 
for tax purposes.

The Board should include non-executive members who are 
independent, as defined in the Mauritius Code of Corporate 
Governance.

All members of the Board should be individuals of integrity 
and, collectively, should bring a blend of knowledge, skills, 
objectivity and experience to the Board to enable it to carry 
out its functions effectively.

Directors will be recommended to the Board by the 
Nominations Committee and may be appointed by the 
Board or by the Company in general meeting.

Directors’ retirement should be planned to ensure some 
continuity i.e. there should be staggered retirement of 
Directors.

Chairperson
The members of the Board shall elect a non-executive 
Chairperson, who must possess demonstrated expertise 
and experience to provide firm and objective leadership. 
The Chairperson should not be involved in the day-to-
day running of the business and should not be a full-time 
employee of the Company.

The main roles of a Chairperson shall be to:

• Preside over meetings, encourage participation of 
Directors in board matters and mediate differences of 
opinion, provided that the Chairperson shall attend all 
board meetings in the United Kingdom and shall not have 
a casting vote

• Evaluate the performance of Directors collectively and 
individually

• Guide the Board and Senior Management, ensuring time 
for consultation, preparing of agenda and minutes and 
supervision of implementation of resolutions

• Ensure adequate succession planning for the Directors 
and management

• Ensure that all relevant information on financial and 
operating matters are placed before the Board to enable 
Directors to reach informed decisions

• Ensure adoption of good corporate governance practices

• Maintain relations with the shareholders of the Company 
and ensure that information is clearly communicated to 
them through appropriate disclosure.

The Chairperson shall be appointed for a pre-approved 
term, in accordance with the Company’s Constitution and 
the Code.

Executive Directors
The Board shall also appoint at least two Executive Directors 
to whom some functions will be delegated. The Executive 
Directors will have the responsibility for managing the day-
to-day business and operations of the Company. The Board 
will have to appoint a Chief Executive whose responsibility 
amongst others will be to:

• Develop and recommend to the Board a long-term 
strategy and vision for the Group that would generate 
adequate shareholder value

• Develop and recommend to the Board annual business 
plans and budgets that support the long-term strategy of 
the Group

• Provide to the Board all relevant financial and operating 
information to enable them to assess performance

• Strive to achieve the Group’s financial and operating goals

• Serve as the chief spokesman for the Company on all 
operational issues, further to discussion with the Board 
on the division of responsibilities for communication with 
shareholders and other stakeholders

• Maintain a positive and ethical work climate that is 
conducive to attracting, retaining and nominating a 
diverse group of top-quality employees at all levels of the 
Company.

CEO shall be nominated by the Nominations Committee, 
with any additional executive directors nominated by the 
CEO. All executive Directors shall thereafter be appointed in 
the manner provided in the Company’s Constitution.
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Company Secretary
To ensure the smooth functioning of Board and Board 
Committee meetings, the Board should appoint a Company 
Secretary to:

• Assist the Chairperson of the Board with the agenda, 
information gathering and other logistics

• Devise induction and training programmes for the new 
Directors

• Keep minutes and records of the Board/Board Committee 
meetings.

Board Committees
The Board shall have the following committees to which it 
can delegate some of its duties:

• Audit and Risk Committee

• Corporate Governance Committee

• Investment Committee

• Nominations Committee.

Each committee shall establish Terms of Reference, which 
shall indicate the role and responsibilities of the committee. 
The composition of the committees will be reviewed at 
least once a year by the Corporate Governance Committee 
to ensure a balance of specialist skills, independence and 
experience, in accordance with the Company’s guidelines.

The Corporate Governance Committee shall assess the 
collective effectiveness of the Committees and the Board. 
In addition the Chairperson will individually appraise the 
Directors.

The Committees shall submit to the Board the minutes of 
proceedings of their meetings.

Board meetings
The Board shall meet at least four times annually in 
the UK only and meetings shall be convened by the 
Chairman, as scheduled or at the request of one or 
more Directors. Meetings may be held by telephone or 
videoconference, provided that participants can hear each 
other simultaneously and provided that Directors resident 
in South Africa for tax purposes shall not be entitled to 
attend the meeting by telephone or videoconference from 
South Africa. In the event that non-UK resident directors are 
attending the meeting by telephone or videoconference, 
they will only be permitted to vote if there is a quorum of UK 
resident Directors physically present in the UK.

The meeting will be presided over by the Chairperson or, in 
his absence, by a Director designated by the Chairperson. 
The quorum shall be three Directors, of which at least one 
must be an executive Director. No meeting of the board shall 
be quorate unless a majority of Directors attending that 
meeting are physically present at the meeting in the UK. 
The Chairperson of the meeting shall consult with the absent 
members by telephone or other means whenever possible.

Resolutions should be preferably passed by unanimous 
vote. The minutes of proceedings of each meeting shall be 
approved at the following meeting as evidence that the 
resolutions have been adopted.

At least once a year, the non-executive Directors shall meet 
separately to discuss the functioning of the Board and the 
executive Directors, collectively as executive management 
and in their individual capacity, and address any issues that 
arise thereof.

In addition to the quarterly board meetings set out above, 
additional board meetings should be held to consider issues 
such as:

• Any issue of share capital or raising of new finance;

• The acquisition of/subscription for shares;

• The decision to proceed with a particular project;

• The decision to acquire a particular asset;

• The decision to enter into any key agreements;

• Approval of budgets;

• Payment of dividends;

• Approval of accounts;

• Appointment of professional advisers (e.g. lawyers, 
bankers, accountants, etc);

• The disposal of investments;

• The appointment and resignation of Directors; and

• The appointment and dismissal of agents.

Statement of remuneration philosophy
The following amounts are payable by the Company as 
Directors’ fees in respect of the period:

Sisa Ngebulana £13,000

Kameel Keshav £13,000

Andile Mazwai £13,000

For service during 2015/16, the non-executive Directors, 
other than the Board Chairman, each receive a basic fee 
of £10,000 per annum plus £1,000 for each meeting 
they attend. For the Chairperson of each committee, 
this attendance fee rises to £2,000 per meeting. For the 
Chairman of the Board, the basic fee is £15,000 per annum.

In order to promote transparency, the compensation 
of the Directors will be disclosed in the annual report. 
The remuneration of Directors will be debated and 
recommended by the Corporate Governance Committee 
to the Board and the shareholders at the Annual General 
Meeting. Directors must not participate in discussions 
regarding their own packages.

Conflict of interest
Directors must avoid instances that may give rise to 
conflicts of interest or which may be perceived by others 
as conflicting situations. Full information on any conflict 
or potential conflict of interest must be made known to 
the Board and fellow Directors and the onus will be on 
the Directors to advise the Board on any change in their 
situation.

On declaration of his interest, the concerned Director shall 
not participate in the discussions and/or decision-making 
process concerning the transaction in which the conflict 
arises. The transaction may, however, be concluded and 
approved at market terms and conditions. Related party 
transactions will also be disclosed in accordance with 
disclosure requirements and accounting policies and 
standards.

Review
The Board’s Charter may be reviewed at least once a year or 
as may be required with the introduction of or amendment 
to laws, regulations and practices.

GOVERNANCE, RISK AND COMPLIANCE
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BOARD ATTENDANCES
The table below shows Directors’ attendance at Board and Committee meetings during the reporting period:

DIRECTOR BOARD
CORPORATE 

GOVERNANCE AUDIT AND RISK INVESTMENT

Sisa Ngebulana 4/4 n/a n/a 2/2
Kameel Keshav 4/4 2/2 2/2 2/2
Daniel Romburgh 5/5 2/2 2/2 n/a
Tinesh Ramprusad 1/1 n/a n/a n/a
Andile Mazwai 2/2 2/2 2/2 2/2
Catherine McIlraith 1/1 n/a 1/1 n/a
Michael Riley 2/2 2/2 n/a 2/2
Victoria Whitehouse 2/2 n/a n/a n/a
Hendrick Barnhoon 2/4 n/a n/a n/a
Peter Todd 1/1 n/a n/a n/a
Diane Bosman 1/1 n/a n/a n/a
Brendon Jones 1/1 n/a n/a n/a
Gary Fourie 1/1 n/a n/a n/a

Meetings of the Nomination Committee are not shown, as 
it was not established until after the period-end. Additional 
members may be appointed to the Nominations Committee, 
following the appointment of additional independent non-
executive Directors to the Board.

DIRECTORS AND BOARD ASSESSMENT
The board and the continuing Directors have undergone 
an assessment, which did not give rise to any negative 
feedback and confirmed their competence and fitness to 
occupy their respective positions within the Company.

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD
In order to effectively address the needs of the Company 
and to further its commitment to best practice in corporate 
governance, the Board has established Corporate 
Governance, Nominations, Audit and Risk and Investment 
Committees during the reporting period. Each of the 
Committees has adopted its terms of reference as approved 
by the Board. The Company’s corporate governance 
structure is set out on pages 26 to 32.

The minutes of each Committee meeting are circulated 
to the Board as a whole. Each Committee operates within 
terms of reference determined by the Board having regard 
to independent external guidance. The duties of each 
Committee are summarised below.

Governance Committee – duties
• Formulate and recommend to the Board for approval 

a set of best practice corporate governance principles 
supporting the Company’s strategic priorities, in 
accordance with the applicable Code of Corporate 
Governance;

• Monitor the Company’s compliance with its adopted 
corporate governance principles;

• Review the Company’s compliance with all relevant legal 
and regulatory requirements within the jurisdictions in 
which the Company operates;

• Monitor potential changes in such legal and regulatory 
requirements to ensure that the Company is in a position 
to respond appropriately to their introduction;

• Ensure the Company has in place adequate processes 
for reporting and responding to any material regulatory 
breaches and the findings of regulatory agencies;

• Keep under review the Company’s conduct and 
reputational risk profile, ensuring that the Company’s 
executives place appropriate emphasis on the Company’s 
reputation as part of the key decision-making process;

• Ensure that the Company has in place an adequate 
code of ethics and conduct regulating its dealings with 
investors, clients, advisers, employees and the public 
generally, monitoring the effectiveness of the code on an 
ongoing basis;

• Report formally to the Board on its proceedings and 
make recommendations to the Board on any area within 
its remit;

• Produce a statement on the Company’s governance 
framework and its performance in relation to it for 
inclusion in the Company’s annual report;

• At least annually, review its constitution and terms 
of reference to ensure it is operating at maximum 
effectiveness and recommend any changes it considers 
necessary to the Board for approval;

• Determine the level of non-executive and independent 
non-executive fees and recommend same to the Board 
for approval; and

• Liaise with the Board in relation to the preparation of 
the Committee’s report to shareholders as required and 
consider each year (and minute its conclusions) whether 
the circumstances are such that the Annual General 
Meeting of the Company should be invited to approve the 
remuneration policy set out in the Committee’s report.

Audit and Risk Committee – duties
• Monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial 

statements, reviewing the financial statements prior to 
approval, including the annual report and other periodic 
reports, results’ announcements and statements relating 
to financial performance, focusing on significant financial 
reporting issues, major judgemental areas, significant 
audit adjustments, going concerns and compliance with 
accounting standards, securities exchange and regulatory 
requirements;
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• Monitor, and challenge where necessary, the consistency 
of and any changes to accounting policies, the selection 
of accounting methodology for significant transactions, 
the application of appropriate accounting standards and 
the clarity of disclosure in the Group’s financial reports 
including all material supporting information;

• Monitor the independence and objectivity of the auditors 
and make recommendations to the Board, to be put 
to members for approval at the AGM, in relation to the 
appointment, re-appointment and removal of the auditors 
and their remuneration, and overseeing the selection 
process for new auditors as necessary;

• Consider any issues arising from the audit and any matters 
the auditors wish to raise;

• Review the effectiveness of the audit, including the 
auditors’ management letter and the response of 
management to its findings and recommendations;

• Develop and implement policy on the engagement of the 
external auditor to supply non-audit services, and approve 
the terms on which the auditor may be engaged to supply 
such services;

• Review audit planning process to ensure that the policies 
in place to combat financial crime, money-laundering 
activities, fraud and bribery are tested through the audit 
process;

• Review the internal procedures by which employees, 
advisers and contractors may raise concerns about 
possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting 
and other matters (“whistleblowing”), to ensure that 
arrangements are in place for the investigation of such 
matters and appropriate follow-up action;

• Advise the Board on the Company’s overall risk profile, 
tolerance and strategy, taking account of the current and 
prospective macroeconomic and financial environment 
and drawing on financial stability assessments such as 
those published by relevant industry and regulatory 
authorities;

• Oversee and advise the Board on the current risk 
exposures of the Company and future risk strategy and 
prepare a risk matrix for the Company;

• Consider and approve the remit of the risk management 
function, ensuring that it has: (i) adequate resources and 
appropriate access to information to enable it to perform 
its function effectively and in accordance with the relevant 
professional standards; and (ii) adequate independence 
and is free from management and other restrictions;

• Review promptly all risk management reports on the 
Company and review and monitor management’s 
responsiveness to findings and recommendations 
contained in such reports (whether formal or informal);

• Ensure the risk management function is provided with 
unfettered direct access to the Committee and the 
Chairman of the Board;

• Report formally to the Board on its proceedings and make 
recommendations to the Board on any area within its 
remit;

• Produce an annual formal report on the Company’s 
risk management objectives, policy and management 
framework for inclusion in the Company’s annual report, 
including those relating to financial instruments; and

• At least annually, review its constitution and terms 
of reference to ensure it is operating at maximum 
effectiveness and recommend any changes it considers 
necessary to the board for approval.

The Board is of the view that the Audit and Risk Committee 
has satisfied its responsibilities for the period, in compliance 
with its terms of reference.

Investment Committee – duties
• Review, at least annually, the Company’s overall 

investment strategy and the appropriateness of 
the Company’s current investment portfolio to the 
achievement of the Company’s investment objectives 
and established risk profile;

• Formulate, for approval by the Board and subsequent 
application by the Committee, a framework and 
procedures for the consideration of individual investment 
proposals;

• Review, challenge and approve (as appropriate) 
investment strategy proposals brought to its attention;

• Review the operational efficiency of the Company’s 
investment management arrangements, including both 
internal and external resources;

• Review the performance of the Company’s investment 
assets, in absolute terms and relative to relevant 
benchmarks;

• Report formally to the Board on its proceedings and make 
recommendations to the Board on any area within its 
remit;

• Produce a statement on the Company’s investment 
objectives, policy and management framework for 
inclusion in the Company’s annual report;

• Oversee any investigation of activities which are within its 
terms of reference; and

• Arrange for periodic reviews of its own performance 
and, at least annually, review its constitution and terms 
of reference to ensure it is operating at maximum 
effectiveness, and recommend any changes it considers 
necessary to the Board for approval.

Nominations Committee – duties
• Ensure the establishment of a formal process for the 

appointment of Directors, having regard to relevant 
regulatory requirements and the Company’s corporate 
governance principles, including:

 – identification of suitable members of the board;

 – performance of reference and background checks of 
candidates prior to nomination;

 – finalising the appointment of Directors through an 
agreement between the Company and the Director;

• Make recommendations to the Board on the appointment 
of new executive and non-executive Directors, including 
recommendations on the composition of the Board in 
general regarding the balance between executive and 
non-executive Directors appointed to the Board;

• Review board structure, size and composition and make 
recommendations to the Board with regard to any 
adjustments deemed necessary;

• Identify and nominate candidates for approval of the 
Board to fill Board vacancies as and when they arise, 
as well as put in place plans for succession;

• Ensure that the Managing Director or his equivalent has 
put in place plans for succession;

• Recommend to the Board for continuation in service 
(or not) of any Director who has reached the age of 70;

• Recommend Directors who are retiring by rotation, for 
re-election;

GOVERNANCE, RISK AND COMPLIANCE
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• Recommend Directors to the committees and recommend 
their tenure;

• Oversee the development of a formal induction 
programme for new Directors; and

• Consider the performance of Directors and take steps 
to remove Directors who do not make an appropriate 
contribution.

Following the end of the reporting period, the Board and 
its Committees adopted new terms of reference in the light 
of the transfer of the Company’s tax domicile to the United 
Kingdom and the Company’s election to join the UK REIT 
regime.

CONSTITUTION
The Company was incorporated in Mauritius on 5 June 2014 
under the Mauritian Companies Act 2001 and is domiciled 
in Mauritius. The Company holds a Category I Global 
Business Licence and is regulated by the Financial Services 
Commission of Mauritius.

The address of the Company’s registered office is: 20th 
Floor, Newton Tower, Sir William Newton Street, Port Louis, 
Mauritius.

The Company’s operational and executive management 
office is located at: 2nd Floor, 86 Brook Street, London W1K 
5AY, United Kingdom.

The Company’s objectives are to carry out business 
activities relating to real estate. There are no material 
clauses in the Company’s constitution.

KEY DATES
The current financial year ends on 31 August 2016.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Any related party transactions are carried out on an arm’s 
length basis and are disclosed in the financial statements. 
Please refer to note 23.

SHAREHOLDERS’ AGREEMENT 
AFFECTING THE GOVERNANCE OF 
THE COMPANY
There was no such agreement during the reporting period.

THIRD PARTY MANAGEMENT 
AGREEMENT
In March 2015 the Company entered into an asset 
management agreement with Waypoint New Frontier 
Limited (“Waypoint”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Waypoint Asset Management Limited, a property 
investment adviser and property asset manager based in 
the United Kingdom. Under the terms of the agreement, 
Waypoint provides property transaction and asset 
management services in relation to the Company’s property 
investments in return for fees payable by the Company.

DONATIONS
The Company did not make any donations during the 
reporting period.

STAKEHOLDER RELATIONS AND 
COMMUNICATION
Subject always to regulatory restrictions, the Board aims 
to comprehensively understand and meet the information 
needs of all shareholders and places great importance on 
open and meaningful dialogue with all investors. The Board 
ensures that shareholders are kept informed on matters 
affecting the Company and open lines of communication 
are maintained as appropriate to ensure transparency and 
optimal disclosure. All Board members are requested to 
attend the Company’s annual general meetings.

CODE OF ETHICS
The Company is committed to the highest standards 
of integrity and ethical conduct in dealing with all its 
shareholders.

EMPLOYEE SHARE SCHEMES
The Company has no employees and accordingly there are 
no employee share plans.

INTEGRATED SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
The Company recognises that its operations and property 
assets are key elements of the communities in which they 
are located, in which economic, social and environmental 
issues are inter-related. The Company recognises the non-
financial imperatives that this gives rise to, as set out below.

Ethical approach to business conduct
The Company is committed to the highest standards 
of integrity and ethical conduct in dealing with all its 
stakeholders, and requires the same approach from all who 
act on its behalf.

Environment
The Company will comply with all environment protection 
legislation in all the jurisdictions in which it operates, 
including the Environment Protection Act 2002 
(as amended) of Mauritius.

Corporate and social responsibility
New Frontier recognises its obligations towards all its 
stakeholders, including the local communities in which 
it operates. When working at the Company’s properties, 
advisers and contractors are expected to prioritise 
the health and safety of their workers and the public 
over all other considerations, as well as to carry out all 
appropriate safety and environmental monitoring. All New 
Frontier’s property development activities will be carried 
out in a manner which seeks to minimise the impact on 
the community and the environment generally and the 
Company will seek to apply all relevant energy saving and 
noise reduction standards.
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SHARE PRICE INFORMATION
The price of the Company’s shares during the reporting period is set out below (in Mauritian Rupees).

GOVERNANCE, RISK AND COMPLIANCE

AUDITORS’ FEES
The fees payable to the auditors for audit and other services were:

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

Period from Period from
Period from 5 June 2014 Period from 5 June 2014

1 January (Date of 1 January (Date of
2015 to Incorporation) 2015 to Incorporation)

31 August to 31 December 31 August to 31 December
2015 2014 2015 2014
GBP GBP GBP GBP

Audit fees paid to:
– BDO & Co 85,904 24,085 13,904 7,547
Fees paid for other services provided by:
– BDO & Co 236,275 – 52,275 –

Broken down as follows:

Mauritius
GBP

Guernsey
GBP

Total
GBP

Audit 13,904 72,000 85,904
Other 52,275 184,000 236,275

GROUP DIRECTORSHIPS AND 
INTERESTS
Directors of the Company also hold directorships of other 
companies in the group, as follows:

Sisa Ngebulana: Rebosis Properties Limited

Kameel Keshav: Rebosis Properties Limited

Andile Mazwai: Rebosis Properties Limited

As at 31 August 2015, Sisa Ngebulana held 36,571,937 shares 
in Rebosis Properties Limited.

As at 31 August 2015, Andile Mazwai was beneficially 
interested in 678,115 shares in Rebosis Properties Limited.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITY AND 
INSURANCE
The Company indemnifies its Directors in respect of 
their activities on behalf of the Company and procures 
appropriate Directors’ and officers’ insurance cover.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN THE 
COMPANY’S SHARES
As at the date of this report, no Director had an interest 
in the Company’s shares. The Directors will follow the 
principles of the model code on securities transactions as 
set out in Appendix 6 of the SEM Listing Rules.

NEW FRONTIER PROPERTIES LTD. GBP

1,2

1,1

1

0,9

0,8
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1 Jan 2015 1 Mar 2015 1 May 2015 1 Jul 2015 1 Sep 2015

Source: INET BFA
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board retains overall responsibility for 
risk management and for the definition of the 
Company’s overall risk strategy and tolerance, 
having considered the recommendation of the 
Audit and Risk Committee. The key financial 
risks are set out in the financial statements. 
The Company’s policy on risk management 
encompasses all significant business risks as 
described below.

INVESTMENT RESTRICTIONS
The Company’s investment policies do not prohibit certain 
investment techniques such as concentration of investments 
in a small number of companies or sectors that may entail 
significant risks.

POLITICAL AND/OR REGULATORY RISKS
The value of the Company’s assets may be affected by 
uncertainties such as international political developments, 
changes in government policies, changes in taxation, 
restrictions on foreign investment and currency repatriation, 
currency fluctuations and other developments in the laws 
and regulations of countries in which investment may be 
made. Furthermore, the legal infrastructure and accounting, 
auditing and reporting standards in certain countries in 
which investment may be made may not provide the same 
degree of investor protection or information to investors as 
would generally apply in major securities markets.

SPECIFIC COMMERCIAL PROPERTY 
RISKS
Although over the long term, property is often considered a 
low risk asset, investors must be aware that significant short 
and medium-term risk factors are inherent in the asset class.

NUMBER OF ASSETS
As at the date of this document, the Company owns three 
property assets. The Company intends to mitigate any 
risks arising from this relatively small number through its 
programme of investment in further suitable properties.

The Board, with the advice of the Audit and Risk Committee, 
conducts an annual review of the effectiveness of its risk 
management regime. In doing so, the Board considers 
the key findings of the Audit and Risk Committee and 
any recommendations of the Company’s auditors arising 
from the ongoing monitoring and reporting processes and 
management reports. The review also takes account of 
material changes and trends in the Company’s risk profile 
and considers whether the control regime, including 
reporting, adequately supports the Board in achieving its 
risk management objectives. The Board is satisfied that 
the risk management process is ongoing and has been 
operational during the reporting period.

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK
The Board reviews the effectiveness of its risk management 
regime on an annual basis, with the assistance of the 
Audit and Risk Committee and taking account of relevant 
recommendations from the Company’s auditors. The Board’s  
approach to risk management is reflected in the framework 
set out below, which itself is subject to annual review.

RISK IMPACT MITIGATION STRATEGIES

Investment property 
portfolio
Inability to source suitable 
properties to acquire

Inability to grow the portfolio Regular interaction with key people in the 
industry

Inadequate geographic or 
sectoral spread

Financial loss in the event of an economic 
downturn

Seek to build a diverse portfolio

Damage to investment property Financial loss to the Company and reduced 
asset value

Comprehensive insurance policy based 
on replacement value of investment 
property; and

Regular review of insurance policy and 
insured values
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RISK IMPACT MITIGATION STRATEGIES

Operational performance
Vacancies and rental default Reduced profitability and returns to 

stakeholders

Declining property valuations, reduced net 
asset values and risk of breach of financial 
covenants

Strong focus on tenant relationships to 
ensure retention;

Targeted leasing strategy;

Early renewal negotiations; and

Credit checks

Financing
Interest rate risk Increased cost of borrowings will reduce 

shareholder value
Maintain appropriate level of fixed interest 
rates and hedging

Liquidity and refinancing risk Inability to:

• meet obligations

• refinance debt on expiry

• raise sufficient new funding for 
investments and operational expenditure

Cash flow management;

Diversified sources of funding;

Ongoing liaison with funders to assess 
availability of funding;

Maintenance of defensive gearing ratio

Failure to secure funds for 
acquisitions

Inability to grow the portfolio Regular interaction with investors and 
bankers to ensure the availability of equity 
and/or debt for funding of acquisitions

Governance
Non-compliance with legislation 
e.g. JSE and SEM requirements

Suspension or termination of the Company’s 
listing

Active monitoring by corporate sponsors and 
Company Secretary

Reputational risk Loss of investor confidence and unit price 
volatility

Regular communication with stakeholders

Skills and systems
Loss or operational inadequacy 
of key staff and advisers

Reduced operational capability and 
consequential impact on shareholder value

Relationships with key advisers governed by 
appropriately termed contracts; and

Ability to replace advisers in the event of 
failure

Information technology (“IT”) 
failure

Loss of revenue as a result of loss of data;

Impact on the Company’s reputation in the 
event that the data is not recovered promptly

Off-site storage of daily data back-ups;

Support of appropriately skilled IT resources

Failure of the IT system to 
adequately address the business 
framework and processes

Inability to customise the software to meet 
all the needs of the Company

Regularly assess the appropriateness and 
sustainability of the system’s suppliers; and

Periodic review of alternative systems

GOVERNANCE, RISK AND COMPLIANCE
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RISK MANAGEMENT continued

INTERNAL CONTROLS
Within the overall context of risk management, the Board 
pays special attention to the Company’s internal controls. 
In discharging its responsibility for the effectiveness of 
internal controls during the period, the Board’s approach 
was based on the internal control framework summarised 
below:

• clear statements of the powers and responsibility of the 
Board;

• the establishment of scrutinising committees, reporting to 
the Board, covering key risk and operational exposures;

• prescribed limits on the authority of the fund manager;

• ability of independent Directors to provide support to 
executive Directors;

• effective systems for authorising investment and other 
capital expenditure;

• regular review meetings with fund manager, managing 
agents and other advisers, including adequacy of 
reporting arrangements;

• regular independent audits;

• monthly reporting to the Board of operational forecasts 
and results, with explanation of variances;

• regular review of the Company’s capital funding 
requirements and debt/interest exposure; and

• quarterly reporting to the Board of health, safety and 
environmental matters.

The Company has not established an internal audit function, 
the Board having decided that the cost of this is not 
justified bearing in mind the Company’s size and the relative 
simplicity of its business model. The Board considers that 
the monitoring work of the Audit and Risk Committee is key 
to the effectiveness of both the Company’s internal control 
framework and its overall approach to the management of 
risk. The Board is satisfied that the Committee discharged 
its responsibilities effectively during the period.

UK REIT STATUS
In order to maintain the UK REIT status of the Company, the 
Board shall ensure that all key management and commercial 
decisions are taken in the UK and that the UK resident 
Directors carry out the day-to-day management of the 
Company.



AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT

GOVERNANCE, RISK AND COMPLIANCE

The information below constitutes the report of the Audit 
and Risk Committee.

The Audit Committee comprises four non-executive 
directors, Daniel Romburgh (Chairman), and Richard 
Thomas, who are independent, and Andile Mazwai 
and Kameel Kavesh. A short curriculum vitae for each of 
these directors has been set out on pages 10 and 11 of the 
annual report demonstrating their suitable and relevant 
skills and experience.

The committee met twice during the period. Attendance 
of directors is set out on page 30. Special meetings are 
convened as required. The external auditors and executive 
management are invited to attend every meeting.

The committee’s duties are set out on pages 30 and 31.

The Audit and Risk Committee has satisfied itself that the 
designated auditors BDO & Co and Rookaya Ghanty, are 
independent of the Company.

The Audit and Risk Committee recommended the annual 
financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2015, 
for approval to the Board. The Board has subsequently 
approved the annual financial statements which will be open 
for discussion at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Audit and Risk Committee is satisfied that appropriate 
risk management processes are in place and has obtained 
combined assurance given by internal auditors/external 
auditors and management.

Daniel Romburgh
Audit and Risk Committee Chairman

NEW FRONTIER PROPERTIES LTD
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KING III APPLICATION
Below is the King III Chapter 2 summary as required by the JSE Listings Requirements.

KING III PRINCIPLE COMMENT

Chapter 2: Board and directors

2.1 The Board should act as the focal 
point for and custodian of corporate 
governance

The Board is the focal point and custodian of corporate governance at New 
Frontier. In accordance with the Board Charter the Board may delegate 
some of its functions to specialised board committees. The Board has 
established a Governance Committee to ensure adequate oversight and 
monitor compliance to the various legal and regulatory requirements.

2.2 The Board should appreciate that 
strategy, risk, performance and 
sustainability are inseparable

The Board is responsible for aligning the strategic objectives, vision and 
mission with performance and sustainability considerations. The Board is 
guided by the interests of the Company and takes into account the interest 
of the stakeholders.

2.3 The Board should provide effective 
leadership based on an ethical 
foundation

The Board provides effective leadership and is committed to the highest 
levels of corporate governance. Directors are required to adhere to the code 
of ethical conduct adopted by the Board.

2.4 The Board should ensure that the 
Company is and is seen to be a 
responsible corporate citizen

New Frontier’s Governance Committee effects the Company’s commitment 
to responsible corporate citizenship. The committee monitors compliance 
with adopted corporate governance principles and the effectiveness of 
the Company’s code of ethical conduct, which regulates its dealings with 
investors, clients, advisers, employees and the public generally.

2.5 The Board should ensure that the 
Company’s ethics are managed 
effectively

The Board has delegated the responsibility of implementing and monitoring 
the Company’s code of ethics and conduct to the Governance Committee.

2.6 The Board should ensure that the 
Company has an effective and 
independent audit committee

The Board is of the view that the Audit and Risk Committee has satisfied 
its responsibilities for the period, in compliance with its terms of reference. 
The Company did not have a minimum of two independent Directors during 
the period and the Chairman of the Company’s Audit and Risk Committee 
is not considered independent. However, the Board considers the Chairman 
to have the requisite skills and experience to chair the Committee effectively.

2.7 The Board should be responsible for 
the governance of risk

The Board delegates the risk management process to the Audit and Risk 
Committee. The Company has not established a separate Board Risk 
Committee. Due to the Company’s size and the relative simplicity of its 
business model, the Board has decided the Company’s Audit and Risk 
Committee can adequately manage the risk management process.

2.8 The Board should be responsible 
for information technology (IT) 
governance

The Board has oversight of IT through risk management. The daily 
administration of the Company is through the Company Secretary in 
Mauritius or the Asset Manager. 

2.9 The Board should ensure that the 
Company complies with applicable 
laws and considers adherence 
to non-binding rules, codes and 
standards

The Board’s Governance Committee is responsible for monitoring the 
Company’s compliance with all relevant legal and regulatory requirements 
within the jurisdictions in which the Company operates.

2.10 The Board should ensure that there is 
an effective risk-based internal audit

New Frontier has not established an internal audit function, as the Board 
does not consider the cost justified given the Company’s size and the 
relative simplicity of its business model. The Board will consider the need for 
an internal audit function on an annual basis, taking account of advice from 
the Audit and Risk Committee and the Company’s auditors.

2.11 The Board should appreciate that 
stakeholders’ perceptions affect the 
Company’s reputation

The Board’s Governance Committee is responsible for monitoring the 
Company’s conduct and reputational risk profile, ensuring that the 
Company’s executives place appropriate emphasis on the Company’s 
reputation as part of the key decision-making process.

2.12 The Board should ensure the integrity 
of the Company’s integrated report

The Board is responsible for the integrity of the integrated report and 
approves the report prior to publication.

2.13 The Board should report on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s 
system of internal controls

The Board is responsible for the effectiveness of internal controls.

2.14 The Board and its directors should 
act in the best interests of the 
Company

The Board and its directors always act in the best interests of the Company. 
The Board has unrestricted access to all Company information, records, 
documents and property. Directors are required to declare conflicts of 
interests.

KING III CHECKLIST CHAPTER 2
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KING III PRINCIPLE COMMENT

Chapter 2: Board and directors

2.15 The Board should consider business 
rescue proceedings or other 
turnaround mechanisms as soon as 
the Company is financially distressed 
as defined in the Act

No business rescue proceedings were required

2.16 The Board should elect a chairman 
of the board who is an independent 
non-executive director. The CEO 
Officer of the Company should not 
also fulfil the role of chairman of 
the board

New Frontier’s primary listing is on the SEM. The Mauritian Code of 
Governance allows for either a non-executive or independent non-executive 
chairperson. Non-executive director Sisa Ngebulana is the Chairman of 
the Board. The role of the Chairperson is clearly defined in the Board 
Charter. Furthermore, a clear division of responsibilities between the roles 
of the chairperson and that of the CEO exists. This ensures a balance of 
power within the Company and ensures that no individual has unrestricted 
decision-making powers or authority.

2.17 The Board should appoint the CEO 
and establish a framework for the 
delegation of authority

The role and function of the CEO are clearly formulated in the Board Charter.

2.18 The Board should comprise a balance 
of power, with a majority of non-
executive directors. The majority of 
non-executive directors should be 
independent

The Board’s policy is that a majority of Directors shall be independent and 
non-executive, as set out in the board charter. During the period under 
review the Company did not have sufficient independent non-executive 
Directors. However, the Board appointment of two independent non-
executive Directors effective 21 October 2015.

2.19 Directors should be appointed 
through a formal process

The Nominations Committee has established a formal process for appointing 
Directors and recommends the appointment of new executive and non-
executive directors to the Board.

2.20 The induction of and ongoing 
training and development of 
directors should be conducted 
through formal processes

The Nominations Committee is responsible for overseeing the development 
of a formal induction programme for new directors.

2.21 The Board should be assisted by a 
competent, suitably qualified and 
experienced Company Secretary

The Company has appointed Osiris Corporate Solutions (Mauritius) Ltd as 
Company Secretary.

2.22 The evaluation of the Board, its 
committees and the individual 
directors should be performed 
every year

In accordance to the Board Charter the non-executive Directors will meet 
annually to discuss the functioning of the Board and the executive Directors.

2.23 The Board should delegate certain 
functions to well-structured 
committees but without abdicating 
its own responsibilities

The Board established the Governance Committee, Audit and Risk 
Committee, Investment Committee and Nomination Committee to assist 
the Board in fulfilling its obligations. Each of these committees operates 
under formal terms of references. The composition of the committees will 
be reviewed at least once a year by the Corporate Governance Committee 
to ensure a balance of specialist skills, independence and experience, in 
accordance with the Company’s guidelines.

2.24 A governance framework should be 
agreed between the group and its 
subsidiary boards

A governance structure and framework for the delegation of authority is in 
place for the Company.

2.25 Companies should remunerate 
directors and executives fairly and 
responsibly

The remuneration of the non-executive directors is and approved by the 
Board and ultimately approved at the annual general meeting.

2.26 Companies should disclose the 
remuneration of each individual 
director and certain senior executives

The remuneration of directors is disclosed in the Corporate Governance 
Report.

2.27 Shareholders should approve the 
Company’s remuneration policy

Shareholders approve the Company’s remuneration policy at the AGM.

GOVERNANCE, RISK AND COMPLIANCE
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DEAR SHAREHOLDER
The Board of Directors of New Frontier Properties Ltd is 
pleased to present the Annual Report of the Company and 
of the Group for the eight months ended 31 August 2015, 
contents of which are listed below.

This report was approved by the Board of Directors on 
21 October 2015.

 
Tinesh Ramprusad Daniel Romburgh
Director Director

Date: 21 October 2015 Date: 21 October 2015

SECTION

Annual Financial Statements
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

SECRETARY’S CERTIFICATE
31 August 2015

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for:

1. Adequate reporting records and maintenance of effective internal control systems;

2. The preparation of financial statements which fairly present the state of affairs of the Company as at the end of the 
financial period and the results of its operations and cash flows for that period, and which comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”); and

3. The selection of appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable and prudent judgements.

The external auditors are responsible for reporting on whether the financial statements are fairly presented.

The Directors report that:

1. Adequate accounting records and an effective system of internal controls and risk management have been maintained;

2. Appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates have been used 
consistently;

3. International Financial Reporting Standards have been adhered to. Any departure in the interest of fair presentation has 
been disclosed, explained and quantified; and

4. The Code of Corporate Governance has been adhered to. Reasons have been provided where there has not been compliance.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors.

 
Tinesh Ramprusad Daniel Romburgh
Director Director

Date: 21 October 2015 Date: 21 October 2015

We certify that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, the Company has filed with the Registrar of Companies all such 
returns as are required of the Company under the Companies Act 2001.

Osiris Corporate Solutions (Mauritius) Ltd
Company Secretary

21 October 2015
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ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the members
This report is made solely to the members of New Frontier Properties Ltd (the “Company”), as a body, in accordance with 
section 205 of the Companies Act 2001. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s 
members, those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members 
as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Report on the financial statements
We have audited the Group financial statements of New Frontier Properties Ltd and the Company’s separate financial 
statements on pages 44 to 75 which comprise the statements of financial position at 31 August 2015, the statements of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the period then 
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and in compliance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2001, and for 
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors 
consider internal control relevant to the Company’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements on pages 44 to 75 give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group 
and of the Company at 31 August 2015, and of their financial performance and their cash flows for the period then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and comply with the Companies Act 2001.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Companies Act 2001
We have no relationship with, or interests in, the Company, other than in our capacity as auditors, business advisers and 
dealings in the ordinary course of business.

We have obtained all information and explanations we have required.

In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by the Company as far as it appears from our examination of those 
records.

Financial reporting Act 2004
The Directors are responsible for preparing the corporate governance report. Our responsibility is to report the extent 
of compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance as disclosed in the annual report and on whether the disclosure is 
consistent with the requirements of the Code.

In our opinion, the disclosure in the annual report is consistent with the requirements of the Code.

 
BDO & Co Rookaya Ghanty, FCCA
Chartered Accountants Licensed by FRC

Port Louis 

Mauritius
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
at 31 August 2015

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

31 August 31 December 31 August 31 December
2015 2014 2015 2014

Notes £000 £000 £000 £000

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiary companies 6 – – 9 615
Investment property 7 180,225 1,116 – –
Derivative financial instrument 8 175 – – –

180,400 1,116 9 615

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 9 2,655 66 1,179 1
Loan to related parties 10 – – 79,474 –
Cash and cash equivalents 11 4,985 2 419 –

7,640 68 81,072 1

Total assets 188,040 1,184 81,081 616

EQUITY
Capital and reserves (attributable to owners  
of the parent)
Share capital 12 80,511 616 80,511 616
Retained earnings/(Revenue deficit) 834 (105) (639) (16)

Owner’s interest 81,345 511 79,872 600
Non-controlling interests – 31 – –

Total equity 81,345 542 79,872 600

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 13 102,974 398 – –
Deferred tax 14 26 – – –

103,000 398 – –

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 15 3,310 172 1,209 16
Borrowings 13 – 72 – –
Income tax payable 385 – – –

3,695 244 1,209 16

Total liabilities 106,695 642 1,209 16

Total equity and liabilities 188,040 1,184 81,081 616

These financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 21 October 2015.

 

 
Tinesh Ramprusad Daniel Romburgh
Director Director

Date: 21 October 2015 Date: 21 October 2015

The notes on pages 48 to 75 form an integral part of these financial statements.

The Auditors’ report is set out on page 43.
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STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND  
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
period from 1 January 2015 to 31 August 2015

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

Period from Period from
Period from 5 June 2014 Period from 5 June 2014

1 January (Date of 1 January (Date of
2015 to Incorporation) 2015 to Incorporation)

31 August to 31 December 31 August to 31 December
2015 2014 2015 2014

Notes £000 £000 £000 £000

Revenue
Rental income 2.7 5,333 – – –
Expenses
Property operating expenses (811) – – –
Administrative expenses (1,088) (17) (516) (17)
Acquisition related costs (1,719) – – –
Goodwill impaired 5 – (65) – –
Other income 41 – – –
Fair value gain on investment property 7 1,225 – – –
Loss on disposal of subsidiary company (67) – (102) –

2,914 (82) (618) (17)
Finance (costs)/income 16 (1,306) 1 (5) 1

Profit/(loss) before tax 1,608 (81) (623) (16)
Taxation 17 (723) – – –

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations 885 (81) (623) (16)
Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations 19(a) 54 (24) – –

Profit/(loss) for the period 939 (105) (623) (16)

Other comprehensive income for the period
Exchange loss arising on retranslation of 
subsidiary company (11) – – –
Release of exchange difference on disposal 
of subsidiary company 11 – – –

Other comprehensive income for 
the period – – – –

Total comprehensive income for the period 939 (105) (623) (16)

Earnings/(loss) per share from continuing 
operations
Basic earnings/(loss) per share (GBP) 18 0.013 (0.086) 0.009 (0.017)

Headline (loss)/earnings per share (GBP) 18 (0.004) (0.017) 0.011 (0.017)

Earnings/(loss) per share from 
discontinued operations
Basic earnings/(loss) per share (GBP) 19(c) 0.001 (0.026) – –

Headline earnings per share (GBP) 19(c) 0.001 0.020 – –

The notes on pages 48 to 75 form an integral part of these financial statements.

The Auditors’ report is set out on page 43.
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
period from 1 January 2015 to 31 August 2015

Retained
earnings/ Non-

Share (Revenue controlling
capital deficit) Total interests Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

THE GROUP
Balance at 1 January 2015 616 (105) 511 31 542
Issue of shares 84,163 – 84,163 – 84,163
Issue costs (4,268) – (4,268) – (4,268)
Profit for the period – 939 939 – 939
Other comprehensive income for the period – – – – –
Disposal of subsidiary company – – – (31) (31)

Balance at 31 August 2015 80,511 834 81,345 – 81,345

Balance at 5 June 2014 – – – – –
Issue of shares 616 – 616 – 616
Acquisition through business combination – – – 21 21
Issue of shares to non-controlling shareholders – – – 10 10
Loss for the period – (105) (105) – (105)
Other comprehensive income for the period – – – – –

Balance at 31 December 2014 616 (105) 511 31 542

THE COMPANY
Balance at 1 January 2015 616 (16) 600 – 600
Issue of shares 84,163 – 84,163 – 84,163
Issue costs (4,268) – (4,268) – (4,268)
Loss for the period – (623) (623) – (623)
Other comprehensive income for the period – – – – –

Balance at 31 August 2015 80,511 (639) 79,872 – 79,872

Balance at 5 June 2014 – – – – –
Issue of shares 616 – 616 – 616
Loss for the period – (16) (16) – (16)
Other comprehensive income for the period – – – – –

Balance at 31 December 2014 616 (16) 600 – 600

The notes on pages 48 to 75 form an integral part of these financial statements.

The Auditors’ report is set out on page 43.
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
period from 1 January 2015 to 31 August 2015

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

Period from Period from
Period from 5 June 2014 Period from 5 June 2014

1 January (Date of 1 January (Date of
2015 to Incorporation) 2015 to Incorporation)

31 August to 31 December 31 August to 31 December
2015 2014 2015 2014

Notes £000 £000 £000 £000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 21(a) 1,984 95 101 –
Interest paid (1,394) (17) – –

Net cash generated from operating 
activities 590 78 101 –

Cash flows from investing activities
Investments in subsidiary companies 6 – – (9) –
Acquisitions of subsidiaries, net of cash 
acquired 20(a) (43,940) – – –
Disposal of subsidiary net of cash and 
cash equivalents disposed 20(b) (7) – – –
Interest received 6 – – –
Loan advanced to related parties 10 – – (79,474) –
Expenses incurred in respect of disposal 
of subsidiary company (89) – (89) –
Purchase of investment property – (43) – –

Net cash used in investing activities (44,030) (43) (79,572) –

Cash flows from financing activities
Payments on borrowings (134,353) (43) – –
Proceeds from borrowings 102,886 – – –
Proceeds from issue of share capital 84,163 – 84,163 –
Payments for share issuance costs (4,268) – (4,268) –
Proceeds from issue of shares to 
non-controlling shareholders – 10 – –

Net cash generated from/(used in) 
financing activities 48,428 (33) 79,895 –

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 
for the period 4,988 2 424 –
Exchange difference (5) – (5) –
Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the period 2 – – –

At 31 August 2015/31 December 2014 11 4,985 2 419 –

The notes on pages 48 to 75 form an integral part of these financial statements.

The Auditors’ report is set out on page 43.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the period from 1 January 2015 to 31 August 2015

1. General information
The Company was incorporated in Mauritius on 5 June 2014 under the Mauritian Companies Act 2001 as a private 
company limited by shares and is domiciled in Mauritius. On the same day, the Company has, by a Special Resolution, 
converted itself into a public company. It holds a Category 1 Global Business Licence and is regulated by the Financial 
Services Commission. The address of its registered office is: C/o Osiris Corporate Solutions (Mauritius) Ltd, 20th Floor, 
Newton Tower, Sir William Newton Street, Port Louis, Mauritius.

New Frontier Properties Limited was set up to conduct any business activities relating to real estate including, but 
without limitation, investment development, operation leasing and management of real estate assets. The Company 
listed on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius (SEM) on 28 November 2014 and on the Alternative market of the JSE on 
21 January 2015. The Company’s primary listing is on SEM.

The Company changed its Administrator and Company Secretary to Osiris Corporate Solutions (Mauritius) Ltd, effective 
from 6 February 2015.

The reporting currency of the Company was changed from United States Dollars to Pound Sterling by a Directors’ 
Resolution dated 30 January 2015. Therefore, the opening balances were translated effective from 10 February 2015. 
The Company’s results are therefore reported in Pound Sterling.

The Board of Directors has resolved to change the financial year-end from 31 December to 31 August with effect from 
20 February 2015.

On 23 March 2015, the shareholders resolved that the agreement with Premier Capital Managers Limited be terminated 
with effect from 24 March 2015 and approved the appointment of Waypoint New Frontier Limited as the new asset 
manager with effect from 24 March 2015.

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the holding company (the Company) and those 
of its subsidiaries (the Group).

These financial statements will be submitted for consideration and approval at the forthcoming Annual Meeting of 
Shareholders of the Company.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These 
policies have been consistently applied since last year, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
The financial statements of New Frontier Properties Limited comply with the Companies Act 2001 and have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

The financial statements are presented to the nearest thousand and all values are in £000, except where 
otherwise stated.

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, except that investment property is 
carried at fair value and relevant financial assets and liabilities are stated at fair value.

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and all its subsidiary 
undertakings up to 31 August 2015. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains 
control, being the power to govern the financial and operating policies of the entity so as to obtain benefit from 
its activities. They continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. The financial statements 
of subsidiaries are prepared using consistent accounting policies and inter-company transactions and balances 
are eliminated.

2.1.1 Income and cash flow statement
The Group has elected to present a single statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
and presents its expenses by nature. The Group reports cash flows from operating activities using the 
indirect method. Interest received is presented within investing cash flows; interest paid is presented within 
operating cash flows. The acquisitions of investment properties are disclosed as cash flows from investing 
activities as this most appropriately reflects the Group’s business activities.

2.1.2 Preparation of the consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis, applying a historical 
cost convention, except for the measurement of investment property and other relevant financial assets 
and financial liabilities at fair value. The financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS and 
comply with The Mauritian Companies Act 2001.

2.1.3 Amendments to published Standards and Interpretations effective in the reporting period
Amendments to IAS 32, ‘Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities’, clarify the requirements 
relating to the offset of financial assets and financial liabilities. The amendment is not expected to have any 
impact on the Group’s financial statements.



NEW FRONTIER PROPERTIES LTD
INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2015 49

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27, ‘Investment Entities’, define an investment entity and require 
a reporting entity that meets the definition of an investment entity not to consolidate its subsidiaries, 
but instead to measure its subsidiaries at fair value through profit or loss in its consolidated and separate 
financial statements. Consequential amendments have been made to IFRS 12 and IAS 27 to introduce new 
disclosure requirements for investment entities. As the Company is not an investment entity, the standard 
has no impact on the Group’s financial statements.

IFRIC 21, ‘Levies’, sets out the accounting for an obligation to pay a levy that is not income tax. 
The interpretation addresses what obligating event gives rise to pay a levy and when a liability should be 
recognised. The interpretation has no impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 36, ‘Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-financial Assets’, remove the 
requirement to disclose the recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit (CGU) to which goodwill or other 
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives had been allocated. The amendment has no impact on the 
Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 39, ‘Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting’, provide relief 
from the requirement to discontinue hedge accounting when a derivative designated as a hedging 
instrument is novated under certain circumstances. The amendments also clarify that any change to the fair 
value of the derivative designated as a hedging instrument arising from the novation should be included in 
the assessment and measurement of hedge effectiveness. The amendment has no impact on the Group’s 
financial statements.

Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions (Amendments to IAS 19) applies to contributions from 
employees or third parties to defined benefit plans and clarifies the treatment of such contributions. 
The amendment distinguishes between contributions that are linked to service only in the period in which 
they arise and those linked to service in more than one period. The objective of the amendment is to 
simplify the accounting for contributions that are independent of the number of years of employee service, 
for example, employee contributions that are calculated according to a fixed percentage of salary.

Entities with plans that require contributions that vary with service will be required to recognise the benefit 
of those contributions over such employees’ working lives. The amendment has no impact on the Group’s 
financial statements.

Annual improvements 2010 – 2012 Cycle
IFRS 2, ‘Share-based Payments’ amendment is amended to clarify the definition of a ‘vesting condition’ 
and separately defines ‘performance condition’ and ‘service condition’. The amendment has no impact on 
the Group’s financial statements.

IFRS 3, ‘Business Combinations’ is amended to clarify that an obligation to pay contingent consideration 
which meets the definition of a financial instrument is classified as a financial liability or equity, on the 
basis of the definitions in IAS 32, ‘Financial Instruments: Presentation’. It also clarifies that any non-equity 
contingent consideration is measured at fair value at each reporting date, with changes in value recognised 
in profit and loss. The amendment has no impact on the Group’s financial statements.

IFRS 8, ‘Operating Segments’ is amended to require disclosure of the judgements made by management 
in aggregating operating segments. It is also amended to require a reconciliation of segment assets to the 
entity’s assets when segment assets are reported. The amendment has no impact on the Group’s financial 
statements.

IFRS 13 (Amendment), ‘Fair Value Measurement’ clarifies in the Basis for Conclusions that short-term 
receivables and payables with no stated interest rates can be measured at invoice amounts when the effect 
of discounting is immaterial. The amendment has no impact on the Group’s financial statements.

IAS 16, ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ and IAS 38, ‘Intangible Assets’ are amended to clarify how the 
gross carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation are treated where an entity uses the revaluation 
model. The amendment has no impact on the Group’s financial statements.

IAS 24, ‘Related Party Disclosures’ is amended to include, as a related party, an entity that provides 
key management personnel services to the reporting entity or to the parent of the reporting entity 
(the ‘management entity’). Disclosure of the amounts charged to the reporting entity is required. 
The amendment has no impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Annual improvements 2011 – 2013 Cycle
IFRS 1, ‘First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards’ is amended to clarify in the 
Basis for Conclusions that an entity may choose to apply either a current standard or a new standard 
that is not yet mandatory, but permits early application, provided either standard is applied consistently 
throughout the periods presented in the entity’s first IFRS financial statements. The amendment has no 
impact on the Group’s financial statements, since the Group is an existing IFRS preparer.

IFRS 3, ‘Business Combinations’ is amended to clarify that IFRS 3 does not apply to the accounting for 
the formation of any joint venture under IFRS 11. The amendment has no impact on the Group’s financial 
statements.
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2.1 Basis of preparation continued

2.1.3 Amendments to published Standards and Interpretations effective in the reporting period continued
IFRS 13, ‘Fair Value Measurement’ is amended to clarify that the portfolio exception in IFRS 13 applies to all 
contracts (including non-financial contracts) within the scope of IAS 39 or IFRS 9. The amendment has no 
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

IAS 40, ‘Investment Property’ is amended to clarify that IAS 40 and IFRS 3 are not mutually exclusive. 
IAS 40 assists users to distinguish between investment property and owner-occupied property. Preparers 
also need to consider the guidance in IFRS 3 to determine whether the acquisition of an investment 
property is a business combination. The amendment has been appropriately applied.

2.1.4 Standards, Amendments to published Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective
Certain standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations have been issued that are 
mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015 or later periods, but which the 
Group has not early adopted.

At the reporting date of these financial statements, the following were in issue but not yet effective:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions (Amendments to IAS 19)

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts

Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations (Amendments to IFRS 11)

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation (Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38)

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contract with Customers

Agriculture: Bearer Plants (Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41)

Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements (Amendments to IAS 27)

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture (Amendments to IFRS 10 
and IAS 28)

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012 – 2014 Cycle

Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28)

Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to IAS 1)

Where relevant, the Group is still evaluating the effect of these Standards, amendments to published Standards 
and Interpretations issued but not yet effective, on the presentation of its financial statements.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgement in the process of applying the 
Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas 
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 4.

2.2 Investments in subsidiaries
Separate financial statements of the investor
In the separate financial statements of the investor, investments in subsidiary companies are carried at cost. 
The carrying amount is reduced to recognise any impairment in the value of individual investments.

2.3 Consolidation
(a) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group 
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement 
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the 
date that control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred 
and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset 
or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the 
acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
for the period from 1 January 2015 to 31 August 2015
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Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and 
the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree, if any, over the fair value of the 
identifiable net assets acquired, is recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the net assets of 
the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss.

For acquisitions of subsidiaries not meeting the definition of a business, the Group allocates the cost between 
the individual identifiable assets and liabilities in the Group based on their relative fair values at the date of 
acquisition. Such transactions or events do not give rise to goodwill.

All the companies in the group at the period end have 31 August as their year-end. Consolidated financial 
statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been 
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are 
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated.

(b) Transactions with non-controlling interests
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with equity owners of the Group. 
For purchases from non-controlling interests, the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant 
share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on 
disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

(c) Disposal of subsidiaries
When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value at the 
date when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the 
initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, 
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or 
liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified 
to profit or loss.

2.4 Foreign currency
On 10 February 2015, the Group obtained approval from the Registrar of Companies to present its financial 
statements in Great Britain Pound (‘GBP’). The average exchange rate at the date of the change of currency 
was 1GBP = USD0.65627.

(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated 
financial statements are presented in ‘GBP’, which is the Group’s functional and presentation currency.

(b) Transaction and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing 
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of 
such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are presented net 
in the income statement within finance costs and finance income respectively.

All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in profit or loss within ‘other (losses)/gains – net’.

(c) Group companies
The results and financial position of all the group entities that have a functional currency different from the 
presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented, are translated at the closing rate 
at the date of that statement of financial position;

(ii) income and expenses for each statement representing profit or loss and other comprehensive income are 
translated at average exchange rates; and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign 
entities are taken to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are 
recognised in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on sale. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on 
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at 
closing rate.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies continued
2.5 Investment property

Property that is held for rental income or for capital appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by the Group, 
is classified as investment property. Investment property also includes property that is being constructed or 
developed for future use as investment property.

Land held under operating leases is classified and accounted for by the Group as investment property when the 
rest of the definition of investment property is met.

Investment property is measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Transaction costs include transfer 
taxes and professional fees to bring the property to the condition necessary for it to be capable of operating.

After initial recognition, investment property is carried at fair value. Investment property under construction is 
measured at fair value if the fair value can be reliably determined. Investment properties under construction for 
which the fair value cannot be determined reliably, but for which the Group expects that the fair value of the 
property will be reliably determinable when construction is completed, are measured at cost less impairment 
until the fair value becomes reliably determinable or construction is completed – whichever is earlier. Fair value is 
determined using an income capitalisation method.

Valuations are performed as of the financial position date by independent valuation specialists. These valuations 
form the basis for the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.

It may sometimes be difficult to determine reliably the fair value of the investment property under construction. 
In order to evaluate whether the fair value of an investment property under construction can be determined 
reliably, management considers the following factors, among others:

(i) the provisions of the construction contract;

(ii) the stage of completion;

(iii) whether the project/property is standard (typical for the market) or non-standard;

(iv) the level of reliability of cash inflows after completion;

(v) the development risk specific to the property;

(vi) past experience with similar constructions; and

(vii) status of construction permits.

The fair value of investment property reflects, among other things, rental income from current leases and other 
assumptions market participants would make when pricing the property under current market conditions.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised to the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed when incurred. When part of an 
investment property is replaced, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

Changes in fair values are recognised in profit or loss. Investment properties are derecognised when they have 
been disposed of.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment. It’s fair value 
at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting purposes.

2.6 Leases
(a) Accounting for leases – where the Group is the lessee
(i) Operating lease

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor, are 
classified as operating leases. Payments, including pre-payments, made under operating leases (net of any 
incentives received from the lessor) are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the 
lease. Properties leased out under operating leases are included in investment properties. See note 2.5 for 
the accounting policy relating to land held on an operating lease and used as investment property.

(b) Accounting for leases – where the Group is the lessor
Properties leased out under operating leases are included in investment property in the consolidated statement 
of financial position (note 7). See note 2.7 for the recognition of rental income.

2.7 Revenue recognition
Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, 
except for contingent rental income which is recognised when it arises.

Incentives for lessees to enter into lease agreements are spread evenly over the lease term, even if the payments 
are not made on such a basis. The lease term is the non-cancellable period of the lease together with any further 
term for which the tenant has the option to continue the lease where, at the inception of the lease, the directors 
are reasonably certain that the tenant will exercise that option.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
for the period from 1 January 2015 to 31 August 2015
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When an incentive is given to a tenant, the carrying value of the investment property excludes any amount 
reported as a separate asset as a result of recognising rental income on this basis.

Service and management charges are recognised in the accounting period in which the services are rendered.

2.8 Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the Group has 
become a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire 
or the Group transfers substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

(a) Financial assets
The Group’s financial assets consist of derivative financial instruments, loans and receivables.

Financial assets recognised on the consolidated statement of financial position as trade and other receivables 
are classified as loans and receivables. They are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost less provision for impairment. A provision for impairment is made when there is objective 
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all of the amounts due under the original terms of the 
invoice. Impaired debts are derecognised when they are assessed as uncollectible.

The Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge its risks associated with interest rates. Such derivative financial 
instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into 
and are subsequently remeasured at fair value at each reporting date. The movement in fair value between 
reporting periods is included in finance income or expense in profit or loss. Derivatives are carried as assets 
when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Cash and cash equivalents are also classified as loans and receivables. Cash and cash equivalents includes 
cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less.

(b) Impairment of financial assets
For loans and receivables category, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have 
not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of 
the asset is reduced and, the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss. If a loan or held-to-maturity 
investment has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current 
effective interest rate determined under the contract.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the 
debtor’s credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the 
extent that the carrying amount of the receivable at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed 
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

(c) Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

All loans and borrowings are classified as other liabilities. Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net 
of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between 
the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the 
period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of 
the liability for at least 12 months after the date of the statement of financial position.

Financial liabilities included in trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently 
at amortised cost.

2.9 Share capital
Shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, 
from the proceeds.

2.10 Tenant deposits
The Company’s subsidiaries obtain deposits from tenants as a guarantee for returning the property at the end of 
the lease term in a specified good condition. Such deposits are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
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2.11 Taxation

The Company is subject to income tax in Mauritius at 15%. The Company is however, entitled to a tax credit 
equivalent to the higher of actual foreign tax suffered and 80% of Mauritius tax payable in respect of its foreign 
source income, thus reducing its maximum effective tax rate to 3%. There is no capital gains tax in Mauritius.

In respect of the Company’s subsidiaries based in Guernsey, taxation is provided on taxable profits at amounts 
expected to be paid (or recovered) using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted 
at the reporting date.

Under the present British Virgin Island laws, the Company’s former subsidiary is not subject to tax on income, 
profits or capital gains in the British Virgin Islands. Accordingly, no provision for income tax was made for the 
subsidiary.

2.12 Deferred taxation
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised where the carrying amount of an asset or liability in the 
statement of financial position differs from its tax base, except for differences arising on:

– the initial recognition of goodwill; and

– the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time 
of the transaction affects neither the accounting or taxable profit.

Recognition of deferred tax assets is restricted to those instances where it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the difference can be utilised.

The amount of deferred tax asset or liability is determined using tax rates that have been enacted or substantially 
enacted by the reporting date and are expected to apply when the deferred tax liabilities/(assets) are settled/
(recovered).

Deferred tax arising as a consequence of investment property carried at fair value is calculated on the 
presumption that the property will be recovered through a sale of the property in line with the Group’s business 
model. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and is held within a business 
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment 
property over time rather than through sale.

2.13 Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. 
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by 
which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher 
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are 
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).

2.14 Intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the 
business (see note 2.3) less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment. 
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing.

On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the gains and 
losses on disposal.

2.15 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value net of directly attributable transaction costs. All loans 
and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost with interest charged to the statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income at the effective interest rate and shown within finance expense.

2.16 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events 
and it is probable that an outflow of resources, that can be reliably estimated, will be required to settle the obligation.

The amount recognised as provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation when a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation (where 
the effect of the time value of money is material).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
for the period from 1 January 2015 to 31 August 2015
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3. Financial risk management
3.1 Financial risk factors

Financial risks are risks arising from financial instruments to which the Group is exposed during or at the end of 
the reporting period. Financial risk comprises market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and other price 
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The primary objectives of the financial risk management function are to establish 
risk limits, and then ensure that exposure to risks stays within these limits.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the determination of the Group’s risk management objectives 
and policies and, whilst retaining ultimate responsibility for them, they have delegated the authority for designing 
and operating processes that ensure the effective implementation of the objectives and policies to the Group’s 
management.

The Group’s overall risk management program seeks to maximise the returns derived from the level of risk to 
which the Group is exposed and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market prices. The Group’s market risks arise from open positions in (a) foreign currencies and 
(b) interest-bearing assets and liabilities, to the extent that these are exposed to general and specific market 
movements.

(i) Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as it has no significant financial assets 
and financial liabilities denominated in currencies other than GBP.

(ii) Price risk

The Group has no significant exposure to price risk as it does not hold any equity securities or 
commodities.

(iii) Property rental risk

The Group has significant expertise in the real estate business and has appointed an asset manager to 
manage the business and mitigate any potential risk. Management believes that the property rental risk 
is considered to be a low risk for the Group.

(iv) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

As the Group’s interest-bearing assets do not generate significant amounts of interest, changes in market 
interest rates do not have any significant direct effect on the Group’s income.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk by virtue of borrowings from banks at variable rates 
of interest.

The Group’s interest rate risk is monitored by the Group’s management on a periodic basis. The Group 
borrows at fixed and floating rates of interest and uses financial instruments to fix the floating rates 
of interest in accordance with its hedging policy. Trade receivables and payables (other than tenant 
deposits) are interest-free and have settlement dates within one year.

The Group does not speculate in financial instruments, they are only used to limit the Group’s exposure 
to interest rate fluctuations. The Group’s policy is to hedge between 50% and 100% of its interest rate 
exposure. At 31 August 2015, 80.6% of the Group’s debt was hedged using interest rate swaps for the 
term of the loan.

The variable rate loan is protected by an interest rate swap which is carried at fair value. It has been 
identified as level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. Level 2 is defined as inputs other than quoted prices 
included in level 1 that are observable for the liability either directly (ie as prices) or indirectly (as derived 
from prices).

The average effective interest rates of financial instruments at the date of the statement of financial 
position, based on reports reviewed by key management personnel, were as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents – 0%

Bank borrowings – 3.38%

At 31 August 2015, if interest rates on GBP denominated borrowings had been 1% higher/lower with 
all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the period would have been £434,000/£347,000 
(2014: £29) lower/higher, mainly as a result of higher/lower interest expense on floating rate borrowings.
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3. Financial risk management continued
3.1 Financial risk factors continued

(b) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations. The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. Credit risk arises from cash 
and cash equivalents held at banks and trade receivables which include rentals receivable from lessees. Credit 
risk is managed on a Group basis.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that rental contracts are entered into only with lessees with an 
appropriate credit history, but the Group does not monitor the credit quality of receivables on an ongoing 
basis. The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each tenant. 
The Group does not have any tenants who provide in excess of 10% of the Group’s rental income.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amount of the financial assets as set out below:

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

31 August 31 December 31 August 31 December
2015 2014 2015 2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Trade receivables, net of provision for 
impairment (note 9):
– Rent receivable from lessees 472 9 – –
– Security deposits receivable – 5 – –
– Other receivables 2,163 1 1,179 1

2,635 15 1,179 1

Cash and cash equivalents (note 11) 4,985 2 419 –

Deposits refundable to tenants may be withheld by the Group in part or in whole if receivables due from the 
tenant are not settled or in case of other breaches of contract.

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities at 31 August 2015 approximates their carrying value.

The maximum exposure to credit risk before any credit enhancements at 31 August 2015 is the carrying 
amount of the financial assets as set out in the statement of financial position.

(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may not be able to generate sufficient cash resources to settle its 
obligations in full as they fall due or can only do so on terms that are materially disadvantageous.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of funding through 
an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. Due to the 
dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, the Board of Directors aims to maintain flexibility in funding by 
keeping committed credit lines available.

The Group had undrawn committed borrowing facilities available at 31 August 2015 of £2 million (2014: £nil).

The Group’s liquidity position is monitored by the Board of Directors. A summary table with maturity of 
financial assets and liabilities presented below is used by key management personnel to manage liquidity risks 
and is derived from managerial reports at Company level. The amounts disclosed in the tables below are the 
contractual undiscounted cash flows. Undiscounted cash flows in respect of balances due within 12 months 
generally equal their carrying amounts in the statement of financial position, as the impact of discounting is 
not significant.

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

31 August 31 December 31 August 31 December
2015 2014 2015 2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

The maturity analysis of financial instruments 
at 31 August 2015 and 31 December 2014 is 
as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents
– Demand and less than one month 4,985 2 419 –

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
for the period from 1 January 2015 to 31 August 2015
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THE GROUP THE COMPANY

31 August 31 December 31 August 31 December
2015 2014 2015 2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Trade receivables
– Demand and less than one month 472 9 – –

Bank borrowings
– Within one year – 72 – –
– One to two years – 72 – –
– Two to three years – 76 – –
– Three to four years – 86 – –
– Four to five years 102,974 92 – –
– More than five years – 72 – –

102,974 470 – –

Trade payables and accruals
– Demand and less than one month 3,310 172 172 16

The contractual undiscounted cash flows related to bank borrowings have an element of variable rates as well 
as fixed interest rates, the amount disclosed is determined by reference to the conditions existing at the last 
interest payment date, which was 21 July 2015.

3.2 Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern 
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and to maintain an optimal capital 
structure to reduce the cost of capital. The Group uses long-term borrowings, cash and equity to achieve this.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Board reviews the Group’s capital structure, cost of capital and gearing levels.

3.3 Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from system failure, human error, fraud or external events. When controls 
fail to perform, operational risk can cause damage to reputation, have legal or regulatory implications or can lead 
to financial loss. The Company’s subsidiaries cannot expect to eliminate all operational risks, but by initiating an 
effective control framework and by monitoring and responding to potential risks, the Company’s subsidiaries are 
able to manage risks.

The Company’s subsidiaries contract with various service providers and professional organisations. As a result, the 
Company’s subsidiaries have no employees of their own. The financial statements reflect the costs of the various 
service providers.

3.4 Fair value estimation
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the end of 
the reporting period. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an 
exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual 
and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for financial 
assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1. Instruments included 
in level 1 comprise primarily quoted equity investments classified as trading securities or available-for-sale.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation 
techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and 
rely as little as possible on specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are 
observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash 
flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments.

Investment property is carried at fair value which is categorised as level 3. Specific valuation techniques used to 
value the investment property have been disclosed in note 7.
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4. Significant accounting judgements and estimates
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience as adjusted for current 
market conditions and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances.

4.1 Judgements
Management makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by 
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates, assumptions and management judgements that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year are outlined below:

(a) Investment property
The Group carries its investment properties at fair value, with changes in fair value being recognised in 
profit or loss. The Group engaged independent valuation specialists to determine fair value. The property 
was valued on the basis of market value in accordance with the internationally accepted Royal Institution 
of Chartered Surveyors (“RICS”) Valuation – Professional Standards January 2014 (incorporating the 
International Valuation Standards).

The key assumptions used to determine the fair value of the investment properties, are further explained in note 7.

(b) Acquisitions
Properties can be acquired through the corporate acquisition of a subsidiary company. At the time of acquisition, 
the Group considers whether the acquisition represents the acquisition of a business or simply a group of assets 
and liabilities. The Group accounts for the acquisition as a business combination where an integrated set of 
activities acquired in addition to the property. More specifically, consideration is made of the extent to which 
significant processes are acquired and the extent of ancillary services provided by the subsidiary.

When the acquisition of a subsidiary does not represent a business, it accounts for it as an acquisition of a 
group of assets and liabilities. The costs of acquisition are allocated to the assets and liabilities acquired, 
based on their relative fair value and no goodwill or deferred tax is recognised.

(c) Operating lease commitments – Company as lessor
The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property. The Group has determined, 
based on evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease term not constituting a 
substantial portion of the economic life of the commercial property, that it retains all of the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership of the property and accounts for contracts as operating leases.

5. Goodwill
THE GROUP

2014
£000

Purchase consideration (note 20(c)) 615
Net asset of subsidiary at acquisition date (550)

Goodwill 65
Impairment (65)

At 31 December 2014 –

Impairment tests for goodwill: goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash generating unit, ie, the subsidiary (Coastal 
Building Holdings Ltd). Following management’s assessment, the goodwill was impaired due to a fall in the recoverable 
amount of the cash generating unit. The assumptions used are the same as was used to value the investment property 
in the subsidiary (refer to note 7).

6. Investments in subsidiary companies
THE COMPANY

2014
£000

At 5 June 2014 –
Additions 615

At 31 December 2014 615

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
for the period from 1 January 2015 to 31 August 2015
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THE COMPANY

2015
£000

At 1 January 2015 615
Additions 9
Disposal (615)

At 31 August 2015 9

(a) The Company’s subsidiaries are:

(i) At 31 August 2015

Year-end
Stated
capital Currency

Proportion of 
ownership interest

Place of  
business

Country of
incorporation Main businessDirect Indirect

GBP % %

New Frontier Guernsey 1 
Limited1 31/08/2015 100 GBP 100 – Guernsey Guernsey

Investment 
holding

New Frontier Luxembourg 
S.a.r.l2 31/08/2016 12,500 EURO 100 – Luxembourg Luxembourg

Investment 
holding

Middlesbrough Holdings 
Limited3 31/08/2015 20,000 GBP – 100 Guernsey Guernsey

Investment 
holding

Burton Investments 
Limited3 31/08/2015 10,002 GBP – 100 Guernsey Guernsey

Investment 
holding

Middlesbrough Shopping 
Centre Ltd3 31/08/2015 10,000 GBP – 100 United Kingdom Guernsey Property holding

Burton Shopping 
Centre Ltd3 31/08/2015 2 GBP – 100 United Kingdom Guernsey Property holding

All classes of shares held 
are Ordinary.

(ii) At 31 December 2014
Coastal Building Holdings 
Limited4 31/12/2014 23,900 USD 100 –

British Virgin 
Islands (BVI)

British Virgin 
Islands (BVI) Rental of building

All classes of shares held are Ordinary Class A shares.

1 On 4 February 2015, New Frontier Guernsey 1 Limited was incorporated in Guernsey and the company subscribed for the entire share capital.
2 On 11 August 2015, New Frontier Luxembourg S.a.r.l was incorporated in Luxembourg and the company subscribed for the entire share capital.
3 On 14 April 2015, New Frontier Guernsey 1 Limited acquired Middlesbrough Holdings Limited and Burton Investments Limited and their wholly 

owned subsidiaries, Middlesbrough Shopping Centre Ltd and Burton Shopping Centre Ltd.
4 On 22 July 2015, the company disposed of its investment in Coastal Building Holdings Limited.

7. Investment property
THE GROUP

£000

(a) Fair value model
At 5 June 2014 –
Acquisitions through business combinations (note 20(c)) 1,116
Additions 43
Fair value loss (43)

Fair value at 31 December 2014 1,116
Acquisitions through business combinations (note 20(a)) 179,000
Exchange difference (24)
Disposed of on disposal of subsidiary (note 20(b)) (1,092)
Fair value gain on revaluation of investment property 1,225

Carrying value at 31 August 2015 180,225
Tenant incentives within receivables 25

Fair value at 31 August 2015 180,250
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7. Investment property continued
At the end of the period the fair value of Group’s investment properties has been arrived at on the basis of market 
valuations carried out by Colliers International Valuation UK LLP, external valuers to the Group.

On 22 July 2015, the Group disposed of one of its investment property following the disposal of its subsidiary, Coastal 
Building Holdings Ltd.

In accordance with the Group’s accounting policies, incentives to enter into lease agreements are spread evenly over the 
term of the lease. The balance of these incentives at 31 August 2015 is included in trade receivables in the consolidated 
statement of financial position and an amount equivalent to this is set against the fair value of the Group’s investment 
properties.

(b) Valuation process
Colliers International Valuation UK LLP undertook their valuations in accordance with the “RICS Valuation – 
Professional Standards, the 2012 Edition (the “Red Book”). This is an internationally accepted basis of valuation.

A fair value hierarchy of 3 is attributed to the investment property as there are a significant number of 
unobservable inputs used to determine the fair value of the property. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers 
into and out of fair value hierarchy levels as of the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the 
transfer. Changes in levels are analysed at each reporting date by the Board of Directors.

(c) Valuation technique
The fair value of the completed investment property is determined using an income capitalisation method. 
Under this valuation method the property’s fair value is estimated based on the normalised net operating income 
generated by the property, which is divided by the capitalisation rate. The difference between the gross and 
net rental income includes operating expenses and taking into account vacancy allowances and replacement 
reserve. The capitalisation rate adopted, is made by reference to the yield rates observed by the valuers for similar 
properties in the locality and adjusted based on the valuers knowledge of the factors specific to the respective 
properties.

The valuation has used a discounted cash flow technique using rents observed for nearby properties and those 
negotiated for the property. These gave:

THE GROUP

31 August 31 December
2015 2014

£ £

Recorded input
Rental value per square foot per year
– Burton Shopping Centre 15.76 –
– Middlesbrough Shopping Centre 14.29 –
– Market valuation rate adopted 15.02 –
– Purchaser’s costs (%) 3.75 –

Equivalent yield
– Burton Shopping Centre (%) 6.22 –
– Middlesbrough Shopping Centre (%) 6.55 –
– Market valuation rate adopted (%) 6.38 –

In the prior year, the Group’s investment property was measured at fair value. The Group held only this investment 
property, a sub-leasehold interest in an office building, situated in the British Virgin Islands. The lease on leasehold 
land expires on 1 January 2073. The leasehold land was originally leased for 99 years to Albon Enterprises Limited 
on 2 January 1970. The lease was transferred to Pasea Investment Ltd on 1 September 2010 and later sublet to the 
Company’s subsidiary on 19 December 2011 for the remaining term of 61 years.

(d) The following amounts have been recognised in profit or loss:

THE GROUP

31 August 31 December
2015 2014

£000 £000

Rental income 5,333 75
Direct operating expenses arising from investment properties that generated 
rental income 571 1
Direct operating expenses that did not generate rental income – 8

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
for the period from 1 January 2015 to 31 August 2015
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(e) Sensitivity to changes in significant unobservable inputs
A significant change in the nominal yield in isolation would result in a significant change in valuation of the investment. 
A decrease in yield of 50 basis points would result in an increase in total market value to £195,990,000 and a 50 basis 
point decrease would result in a total market value of £166,790,000.

(f) Bank borrowings of £104.2 million from HSBC Bank plc are secured on the investment property portfolio (note 13).

8. Derivative financial instrument
THE GROUP

31 August 31 December
2015 2014

£000 £000

At 31 August 2015/31 December 2014 175 –

The derivative financial instrument held by the Group is an interest rate swap used to manage the Group’s interest rate 
exposure. The swap has a notional value of £84 million, a weighted average fixed rate of 1.325%, the rate receivable is 
LIBOR and a maturity date of 7 March 2020. The swap does not amortise.

The fair value of the derivative financial instrument is stated at its fair value based on a quotation from HSBC Bank plc.

9. Trade and other receivables
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

31 August 31 December 31 August 31 December
2015 2014 2015 2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Trade receivables 472 9 – –
Receivables from related parties (note 23.1) 603 57 603 1
Other receivables 1,468 – 576 –
Accrued income 92 – – –
Prepayments 20 – – –

2,655 66 1,179 1

None of the receivables are either past due or impaired.

Following the acquisition completed during the period, the Group and the Company credit risk’s concentration is now 
spread over numerous tenants. Management ensures that the Company rents its units to tenants with appropriate credit 
worthiness. The level of receivables is monitored regularly on a tenant-by-tenant basis by the asset managers.

In the prior year the Group’s credit risk concentration was spread over six customers as described below.

The table below shows the balance of major counterparties at the end of the reporting 2014:

2014
Number of Balance

counterparties £000

Major counterparty 1 18
Others 5 48

66
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10. Loan to related parties
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

31 August 31 December 31 August 31 December
2015 2014 2015 2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Loan to related parties (see note 23.1) – – 79,474 –

The loan to related parties represents a loan made to New Frontier Guernsey 1 Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary. 
This loan is interest-free, unsecured and denominated in GBP. It is repayable on demand, subject to the Group having 
sufficient cash resources available to make the repayment and that the repayment does not breach any of the terms of 
the loan facility provided by HSBC Bank plc, to which this loan has been subordinated.

11. Cash and cash equivalents
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

31 August 31 December 31 August 31 December
2015 2014 2015 2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Cash at bank and in hand 4,985 2 419 –

12. Share capital
The Company’s share capital consists of 104 389 880 (2014: 938 736) ordinary shares of no par value.

Number 
of shares Share capital

£000

At 5 June 2014 – –
Issue of shares 938,736 616

At 31 December 2014 938,736 616

At 1 January 2015 938,736 616
Issue of shares 103,451,144 84,163
Issue costs – (4,268)

At 31 August 2015 104,389,880 80,511

The authorised number of shares is 300,000,000 (2014: 300,000,000) at no par value. All issued shares are fully paid, 
except for 1,000 shares issued to a former director. Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry a right 
to dividends.

On 15 January 2015 the Company placed 126,020 of its shares with invited investors under the SA private placement at 
an issue price payable in Rand which is equivalent to USD1.00 per share determined at the USD: ZAR exchange rate of 
USD1.00: ZAR11.5059.

On 21 January 2015 a total of 1,064,756 Company’s shares were listed on the AltX with effect from the commencement 
of trade on the JSE.

On 30 January 2015, the Board of Directors, through a written resolution, approved to change the denomination of 
the stated capital of the Company from USD to GBP with value date of 30 January 2015. Accordingly, the change in 
denomination (currently USD938,736) would stand at GBP620,865.

On 6 March the shares of the Company were listed and traded on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd in GBP.

On 19 March 2015, the Board of Directors approved the allotment and issue of 104,400,000 new shares on the 
South African and Mauritian registers.

On 20 March 2015, the shareholders approved the proposed acquisition of two retail shopping malls located in the 
United Kingdom for an approximate aggregate consideration of GBP179 million.

For details of shares issued since the period end please refer to note 24.

In the prior year, the Company had 5,000 shares in issue as at 6 October 2014. As at that date, the 5,000 shares were 
sub-divided in the ratio 187,7472 to 1 such that the balance of shares was 938,736 instead of 5,000.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
for the period from 1 January 2015 to 31 August 2015
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13. Borrowings
The Group’s borrowings are at floating rates of interest. Interest costs may increase or decrease as a result of changes in 
the interest rates.

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

31 August 31 December 31 August 31 December
2015 2014 2015 2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Non-current bank borrowings
Bank loans 104,200 398 – –
Unamortised loan origination costs (1,226) – – –

102,974 398 – –
Current bank borrowings – 72 – –

102,974 470 – –

The Group obtained a term loan facility from HSBC Bank plc to finance the acquisition of shopping centres in 
Middlesbrough and Burton upon Trent (see note 20). The facility was for up to £106.2 million and £104.2 million was 
drawn in the period. The loan bears interest at 2.2% per annum over three-month LIBOR and is repayable in instalments, 
subject to loan to value covenants, with a bullet repayment on 7 March 2020.

The loan is secured on the investment properties and other assets in each shopping centre and their respective holding 
company.

On 1 November 2011, the Company’s former subsidiary obtained a loan from a BVI-licensed bank of GBP489,358 with an 
interest rate of 6% per annum which represents near market rates for a comparable loan from a third party. The term of 
the loan is for 7.4 years. The loan proceeds were used to purchase leasehold rights for a commercial property located 
in Wickham Cay II, Road Town, Tortola, BVI. On 9 September 2013, the Company’s subsidiary increased its mortgage 
loan facility by GBP164,068. The loan proceeds were used in the renovation of the investment property. The investment 
property was used as collateral for the loan. Since the disposal of this subsidiary during the period, this loan in no longer 
recorded in the Group accounts.

The carrying amount of the Group’s borrowings are denominated in GBP.

The fair value of borrowings approximated their carrying value at the date of the consolidated statement of financial position.

Interest paid during the period amounted to £1,183,404 (2014: £17,483).

The table below shows the repayment schedule of the loans payable:

THE GROUP

31 August 31 December
2015 2014

£000 £000

Within one year – 72
Between one and two years – 72
Between two and five years 102,974 254
After more than five years – 72

102,974 470

14. Deferred taxation
THE GROUP

31 August 31 December
2015 2014

£000 £000

Acquired through business combination (note 2(a)) (369) –
Charge for the period 395 –

At 31 August 2015 26 –

The closing deferred tax balance relates to accelerated capital allowances.
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15. Trade and other payables
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

31 August 31 December 31 August 31 December
2015 2014 2015 2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Trade and other payables 1,866 42 354 16
Accruals and deferred income 1,204 – – –
Payables to related parties (note 23.2 and 23.3) 240 130 855 –

3,310 172 1,209 16

16. Finance (costs)/income
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

Period from Period from
Period from 5 June 2014 Period from 5 June 2014

1 January (Date of 1 January (Date of
2015 to Incorporation) 2015 to Incorporation)

31 August to 31 December 31 August to 31 December
2015 2014 2015 2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Interest payable:
– on bank loans (1,183) – – –
– on interest rate swap contracts (167) – – –
Amortisation of loan origination costs (88) – – –
Loan non-utilisation fees (44) – – –
Unrealised exchange (loss)/gain (5) 1 (5) 1
Interest received 6 – – –
Fair value gain on derivative financial instrument 175 – – –

(1,306) 1 (5) 1

17. Taxation
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

Period from Period from
Period from 5 June 2014 Period from 5 June 2014

1 January (Date of 1 January (Date of
2015 to Incorporation) 2015 to Incorporation)

31 August to 31 December 31 August to 31 December
2015 2014 2015 2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Current tax on the adjusted results for the year 
at 15% (2014: 15%) 328 – – –
Deferred tax (note 14) 395 – – –

723 – – –

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
for the period from 1 January 2015 to 31 August 2015
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(a) The tax on the Group’s and the Company’s profit/(loss) before taxation differs from the theoretical amount that 
would arise using the basic tax rate of the Company as follows:

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

Period from Period from
Period from 5 June 2014 Period from 5 June 2014

1 January (Date of 1 January (Date of
2015 to Incorporation) 2015 to Incorporation)

31 August to 31 December 31 August to 31 December
2015 2014 2015 2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Profit/(loss) before taxation from  
continuing operations 1,608 (81) (623) (16)

Tax calculated at 15% (2014: 15%) 241 (12) (93) (2)
Non-deductible expenses 607 – 42 –
Foreign tax credit 41 2 41 2
Income and gains not subject to tax (281)
Effect of consolidation adjustment (5) 10 – –
Effect of different tax rates 110
Unrecognised tax losses 10 – 10 –

723 – – –

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had unused tax losses of £638,898 (2014: £15,939) available for 
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of these tax losses due to the 
unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax losses expire on a rolling basis over five years. The subsidiaries 
incorporated in Guernsey which own investment properties in the UK are subject to 20% income on profits in the UK.

18. Basic and headline earnings/(loss) per share
THE GROUP THE COMPANY

Period from Period from
Period from 5 June 2014 Period from 5 June 2014

1 January (Date of 1 January (Date of
2015 to Incorporation) 2015 to Incorporation)

31 August to 31 December 31 August to 31 December
2015 2014 2015 2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Basic earnings/(loss) from continuing operations 
attributable to equity holders of the Company 885 (81) 623 (16)
Fair value movement on investment property (1,225) – – –
Goodwill impaired – 65 – –
Loss on disposal of subsidiary 67 – 102 –

Headline (loss)/earnings from continuing 
operations attributable to equity holders of 
the Company (273) (16) 725 (16)

Weighted average number of shares 68,481,218 938,736 68,481,218 938,736

Earnings/(loss) per share from continuing 
operations
Basic earnings/(loss) per share (GBP) 0.013 (0.086) 0.009 (0.017)

Headline (loss)/earnings per share (GBP) (0.004) (0.017) 0.011 (0.017)

The Company has no dilutionary instruments in issue.
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19. Discontinued operations
(a) An analysis of the result of discontinued operation in respect of the subsidiary which was disposed of during the 

period is given below:

THE GROUP

Period from
Period from 5 June 2014

1 January (Date of
2015 to Incorporation)

31 August to 31 December
2015 2014

£000 £000

Revenue 71 75
Expenses (4) (39)
Fair value loss on investment property – (43)
Finance cost (13) (17)

Profit/(loss) before tax of discontinued operations 54 (24)
Tax – –

Profit/(loss) after tax of discontinued operations 54 (24)

(b) Operating cash flow 49 (26)
Investing cash flows – (721)
Financing cash flows (43) 707

Total cash flows 6 (40)

(c) Basic and headline earnings/(loss) per share
Basic earnings/(loss) from discontinued operations 54 (24)
Fair value loss on investment property – 43

Headline earnings from discontinued operations 54 19

Weighted average number of shares 68,481,218 938,736

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (GBP) 0.001 (0.026)

Headline earnings per share (GBP) 0.001 0.020

20. Acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries
(a) Acquisitions in the current period

On 14 April 2015, the Group made two acquisitions. It acquired shopping centres at Burton upon Trent and 
Middlesbrough by acquiring the whole of the issued share capital of Burton Investments Limited and Middlesbrough 
Holdings Limited. The transaction is accounted for as a single business combination as this was carried out 
simultaneously, from one ultimate vendor and completed on the same day. In accordance with its accounting 
policy the Group has determined that this acquisition was a business combination. The costs of acquisition which 
have been recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income amount to 
£1,719,040.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
for the period from 1 January 2015 to 31 August 2015
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Details of the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired, purchase consideration, goodwill arising and 
post-acquisition results are as follows:

THE GROUP

2015
£000

Investment property 179,000
Trade and other receivables 4,972
Deferred tax 369
Cash and cash equivalents 1,244
Trade and other payables (6,094)
Borrowings (134,307)

Fair value of net assets 45,184
Cash consideration paid (45,184)

Goodwill arising on acquisition –

Amounts recognised in profit or loss since acquisition
Revenue 5,333
Profit after tax 938

Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries
Consideration paid in cash 45,184
Less cash and cash equivalent balances acquired (1,244)

43,940

Had the Burton Investments Limited and Middlesbrough Holdings Limited been consolidated from 1 January 2015 
revenue would have been GBP1,512,203 and profit would have been GBP2,269,292.

(b) Disposals in the current period
On 22 July 2015 the Company disposed of its investment in Coastal Building Holdings Limited.

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost.

THE GROUP

2015
£000

Investment property 1,092
Cash and cash equivalents 7
Trade and other receivables 69
Payables (23)
Borrowings (544)

Net assets disposed of 601

Loss on disposal of subsidiary
Consideration receivable 603
Costs of disposal (89)

Net consideration 514
Net assets disposed of (601)
Non-controlling interests 31
Exchange difference in respect of net assets of subsidiary from equity to profit or loss (11)

Loss on disposal of subsidiary (67)

Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiary
Consideration received –
Less cash and cash equivalent balances disposed of (7)

(7)
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20. Acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries continued
(c) Acquisitions in the previous period

On 5 June 2014, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital (Class A shares) of Coastal Building Holdings Limited, 
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, which holds a sub-leasehold interest in an office building 
situated in the British Virgin Islands. The subsidiary contributed GBP75,031 to the Group’s revenue and GBP10,101 to 
the Group’s loss. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2014, with all variables held constant, Group revenue 
for the period ended 31 December 2014 would have been GBP122,922 and the Group would have sustained a loss 
for the same period of GBP113,826. Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents on acquisition resulting from assets 
and liabilities acquired and goodwill arising are as follows:

THE GROUP

2014
£000

Investment property 1,116
Other receivables 2
Due from related parties 48
Cash and cash equivalents –
Borrowings (513)
Due to related parties (71)
Trade and other payables (10)

Total identifiable net assets 572

Non-controlling interest (22)
Goodwill (note 5) 65

615

Total purchase consideration 615
Less: Cash and cash equivalents of subsidiary acquired –

615

Consideration
Equity instruments (4 000 ordinary shares) 615

Net cash flow on acquisition of subsidiary
Consideration paid in cash –
Cash and cash equivalent balances acquired –

–

The acquisition was in line with the primary objective of the Company which is of acquiring and developing good 
quality income-generating property assets situated in frontier markets.

There were no acquisition related costs.

The goodwill arising on acquisition has been impaired and recognised in profit or loss (note 5).

The value of the goodwill recognised from the acquisitions is derived from the purchase price negotiated less the 
fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired.

Class A shares were originally owned by Osiris Group Holdings Ltd and were transferred to IAP Trustees Limited as 
Trustee of the Harbour House Trust on 19 July 2013 and on 25 July 2014 with the execution of the “Agreement for 
Sale and Purchase of the Issued Share Capital of the Company” the 23,900 Class A shares were then transferred to 
New Frontier Properties Limited effective 5 June 2014.

Pasea Investment Ltd (PIL) is the beneficial owner of 47,900 Class B shares in the issued capital of the Company.

On 3 July 2014 and 19 September 2014 respectively, the Company’s subsidiary amended its Memorandum 
and Articles of Association to include 7,250 and 14,550 Class A shares with GBP1 par value. As a result of the 
amendments the subsidiary’s authorised share capital increased from GBP32,814 to GBP47,120.

Class rights
The Coastal Building currently comprises two (2) floors (refers to “A floors”) shall be designated to Class A Shares 
and any future floors to be constructed (refers to “B floors”) shall be designated to Class B Shares. The Class B 
shareholders shall not commence any development within twelve (12) months of the Class A shareholders’ occupation 
on the A floors of the Coastal Building.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
for the period from 1 January 2015 to 31 August 2015
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Class A shares shall have exclusive right for whatever purpose on the A floors and Class B shares shall have exclusive 
right for whatever purpose on the B floors. Class A and Class B shares shall have the rights to develop at its own cost, 
the A floors and B floors, respectively.

Any income that accrues to the Company’s subsidiary from leasing of the A floors or B floors shall be segregated 
between the Class A and B shares, respectively. The Class A shareholder shall be entitled to receive and retain all 
income arising from A floors and the Class B shareholder shall be entitled to receive and retain all income arising 
from B floors.

The Class A shareholder shall be entitled to appoint two directors and the Class B shareholder one director to 
the Board. The Class A shareholder’s entitlement to appoint two directors to the Board shall endure for a period 
of eighty eight (88) months commencing on the date of the loan from a BVI-licensed bank to the Company or 
until the obligations of the Class A shareholder as a guarantor of the loan are discharged, whichever is the sooner, 
hereafter it shall lapse and the Class A shareholder shall only have one appointee on the Board thereafter.

The shareholders shall be entitled to appoint one alternate to each director appointed by them and remove, replace 
and fill vacancy in the appointment of their director/s or alternate/s from time to time. Such alternate/s shall be 
entitled to vote at a meeting in place of the “A” director/s or “B” director to whom his or her appointment relates.

Distribution of purchase price to A and B shareholders
In the event that all the issued shares of the Company’s subsidiary are sold the purchase price of such shares shall 
be distributed to A and B shareholders in the following manner:

(a) First, an amount of GBP656,270 shall be paid to the A shareholder as (1) reimbursement of the cash advances 
by the A shareholder to the Company’s subsidiary, (2) reimbursement of the payments it has made in discharge 
of the loan by the bank and (3) to enable the A shareholder to discharge the balance of the Company’s loan 
obligation to the bank which it has guaranteed.

(b) Second, the balance of the purchase price shall be divided between the A and B shareholders proportionately. 
Their proportionate shares shall be determined accordingly to the value of the A floors and the B floors 
respectively, to the whole of the purchase price.

21. Notes to the statement of cash flows
(a)  Cash generated from operations

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

2015 2014 2015 2014
£000 £000 £000 £000

Profit/(loss) before taxation
– From continuing operations 1,608 (81) (623) (16)
– From discontinued operations 54 (24) – –
Interest expense 1,394 17 – –
Interest income (6) – – –
Amortisation of loan origination costs 88 – – –
Foreign exchange difference 5 (1) 5 (1)
Loss on disposal of subsidiary 67 – 102 –
Fair value gain on derivative financial instruments (175) – – –
Impairment losses on goodwill – 65 – –
Fair value (gain)/loss on investment property (1,225) 43 – –
Changes in working capital:
– Trade and other receivables 2,918 (15) 280 –
– Trade and other payables (2,744) 91 337 17

Cash generated from operations 1,984 95 101 –

(b) Non-cash transactions
In the current year, there are no significant non-cash transactions.

In the prior year, the principal non-cash transaction is the issue of 4,000 ordinary no par value shares for a consideration 
of USD937,736 in exchange for shares in Coastal Building Holdings Limited.
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22. Contingencies
The Group has no significant contingent liabilities (2014: nil).

23. Related party transactions
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence 
over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. Related party transactions are made in the normal 
course of business.

In addition Key Management Personnel are considered to be related parties and any transactions with them are 
disclosed below. The purposes of related party disclosures under IAS 24 key management personnel of the Group 
comprise all executive and non-executive directors.

23.1 Balances arising from sales of services and assets

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

31 August 31 December 31 August 31 December
2015 2014 2015 2014

Receivables from related parties Relationship £000 £000 £000 £000

Premier Capital Managers Ltd – 
Security deposit receivable

Common 
ownership – 6 – –

GMG BVI Limited – Security 
deposit receivable

Common 
ownership – 1 – –

Osiris International Trustees Ltd – 
rental due

Common 
ownership – 18 – –

Pasea Investments Limited – Loan Owner of  
Class B shares – 31 – –

Amount receivable from former 
shareholder 603 – 603 –
Amount receivable from subsidiary 
undertaking – – 79,474 –
Amount receivable from 
shareholder – 1 – 1

603 57 80,077 1

During the period, one of the Company’s subsidiaries, Coastal Building Holdings Limited was sold to Brendan 
Jones, a former director for its book value of £603,204 in exchange for the shares he held in the Company. These 
shares can only be realised in tranches, 25% by 1 December and the remainder, at the Company’s discretion in full 
after 1 December 2015.

During the period, the Company made a loan to New Frontier Guernsey 1 Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary. This 
loan is interest-free, unsecured and denominated in GBP. It is repayable on demand, subject to the Group having 
sufficient cash resources available to make the repayment and that the repayment does not breach any of the 
terms of the loan facility provided by HSBC Bank plc, to which this loan has been subordinated.

During the period, the Group has not recorded any impairment of receivables relating to amounts owed by related 
parties. This assessment is carried out each financial year through examining the financial position of the related 
party and the market in which the related party operates.

23.2 Balances arising from purchase of services

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

31 August 31 December 31 August 31 December
2015 2014 2015 2014

Payables to related parties Relationship £000 £000 £000 £000

Osiris Advisors Ltd Common 
ownership – – – –

New Frontier Guernsey 1 Limited Subsidiary – – 615 –
Waypoint New Frontier Limited Key personnel 240 – 240 –

240 – 855 –

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
for the period from 1 January 2015 to 31 August 2015
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Amounts due to related parties are unsecured, bears no interest and have no fixed repayment terms and payable 
on demand.

Waypoint New Frontier Limited is considered to be a related party by virtue of the asset management agreement 
in place between this company and New Frontier Properties Limited. Waypoint New Frontier Limited is a 
wholly owned subsidiary of Waypoint Asset Management Limited which has entered into an asset management 
agreement with the Group to provide all services regarding the operations of assets purchased in the UK.

During the period a total of £935,537 (2014: £nil) was charged by Waypoint New Frontier Limited to the Company 
in respect of these services.

Rebosis Property Fund is considered to be a related party as it is the holding company.

During the period £1,942,815 was paid to Rebosis Property Fund as an underwriting fee for its participation in the 
placing. This fee has been deducted from equity in accordance with IFRS.

Rental income
The Company’s former subsidiary rents out a portion of its property to Osiris International Trustees Limited, a company 
related through common ownership. The rental to related party is made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in 
arm’s length transactions.

23.3 Other related party balances

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

31 August 31 December 31 August 31 December
2015 2014 2015 2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Pasea Investments Limited – Loan Owner of  
Class B shares – 66 – –

Meridian Construction Company 
Ltd – Contractor fee

Common 
ownership – 15 – –

Osiris International Trustees 
Limited – Administration fees

Common 
ownership – 6 – –

Sea View Trust – Loan Common 
ownership – 36 – –

GNK Realisation Ltd Common 
ownership – 7 – –

– 130 – –

24. Non-adjusting subsequent events
After the period end, on 17 September 2015, the Company issued 48,384,870 Ordinary shares at an issue price of 
ZAR19.50 raising a total of £43.9 million, net of issue costs, via a private placing. These funds were loaned to a subsidiary 
company, New Frontier Luxembourg SARL. This company, together with new debt, used the funds to purchase a 
company (BCC Eiffel SARL) which owns The Houndshill Shopping Centre in Blackpool for an approximate consideration 
of £105 million on 23 September 2015.

Other than the above, there were no material events after date of the statement of financial position that have a bearing 
on the understanding of these consolidated financial statements.

The Company transferred its tax domicile to the United Kingdom on 20 October 2015 and elected to join the UK REIT 
regime with effect from 21 October 2015. The UK REIT regime offers certain tax advantages to the Company and 
guarantees 90% distribution of the aggregate net property rental income to shareholders.

25. Going concern
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This 
basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement 
of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.
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26. Financial instruments
The classes of financial instruments and fair value are as follows:

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

Loans and Carrying Loans and Carrying
receivables value receivables value

Financial assets £000 £000 £000 £000

2015
Trade and other receivables 2,635 2,635 1,179 1,179
Derivative financial instrument 175 175 – –
Cash and cash equivalents 4,985 4,985 419 419
Loan from related parties – – 79,474 –

7,795 7,795 81,072 1,598

2014
Trade and other receivables 66 66 1 1
Cash and cash equivalents 2 2 – –

68 68 1 1

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

Liabilities at Liabilities at
amortised Carrying amortised Carrying

cost value cost value
Financial liabilities £000 £000 £000 £000

2015
Interest-bearing borrowings 102,974 102,974 – –
Trade and other payables 3,310 3,310 1,209 1,209

106,284 106,284 1,209 1,209

2014
Interest-bearing borrowings 470 470 – –
Trade and other payables 172 172 16 16

642 642 16 16

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
for the period from 1 January 2015 to 31 August 2015
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27. Three-year summary of published results and assets and liabilities
The Company was incorporated on 5 June 2014 and therefore only has two years of published results to disclose below.

(a) Statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

Period from 5 June 2014 Period from 5 June 2014
1 January (Date of 1 January (Date of

2015 to Incorporation) 2015 to Incorporation)
31 August to 31 December 31 August 31 December

2015 2014 2015 2014
£000 £000 £000 £000

Turnover 5,333 75 – –

Profit/(loss) before taxation 1,608 (81) (623) (16)
Income tax expense (723) – – –

Profit/(loss) for the period 885 (81) (623) (16)
Profit/(loss) from discontinued operations 54 (24) – –
Other comprehensive income – – – –

Total comprehensive income for the period 939 (105) (623) (16)

Profit/(loss) attributable to:
– Owners of the parent 939 (105) (623) (16)
– Non-controlling interest – – – –

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
– Owners of the parent 939 (105) (623) (16)
– Non-controlling interest – – – –

Basic earning/(loss) per share
– From continuing operations 0.013 (0.086) 0.009 (0.017)
– From discontinued operations (0.004) (0.017) 0.011 (0.017)

Headline earning/(loss) per share
– From continuing operations 0.001 (0.026) – –
– From discontinued operations 0.001 0.020 – –
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27. Three-year summary of published results and assets and liabilities continued
(b) Statements of financial position

THE GROUP THE COMPANY

31 August 31 December 31 August 31 December
2015 2014 2015 2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

ASSETS
Non-current assets 180,400 1,116 9 615
Current assets 7,640 68 81,072 1

Total assets 188,040 1,184 81,081 616

EQUITY
Share capital 80,511 616 80,511 616
Retained earnings/(revenue deficit) 834 (105) (639) (16)

Owner’s interest 81,345 511 79,872 600
Non-controlling interest – 31 – –

Total equity 81,345 542 79,872 600

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities 103,000 398 – –
Current liabilities 3,695 244 1,209 16

Total liabilities 106,695 642 1,209 16

Total equity and liabilities 188,040 1,184 81,081 616

28. Capital commitments
At 31 August 2015 the Group had no contracted capital expenditure for which no provision has been made in these financial 
statements (2014: £nil).

29. Segmental information
The Group derives its revenue from a single business activity, the property sector, which it considers as its only segment.

The accounting policies of the operating segment are the same as those described in the summary of significant 
accounting policies. New Frontier Properties Ltd evaluates performance on the basis of profit or loss from the shopping 
centres all located in the UK.

Property Total
31 August 31 August

2015 2015
£000 £000

Revenue from external customers 5,333 5,333

Segment result 3,475 3,475
Loss on disposal of subsidiary company (67) (67)
Fair value gain on investment property 1,225 1,225

Acquisition costs (1,719)
Finance costs/income (1,306)

Profit before taxation 1,608
Taxation (723)

Profit for the period 885

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
for the period from 1 January 2015 to 31 August 2015
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In the current period, no single tenant makes up more than 10% of the rental income recognised, all income has 
been generated from investment properties located in the UK and there are no non-current assets related to the 
geographical class.

Property Total
31 December 31 December

2014 2014
£000 £000

Revenue from external customers 75 75

Segment result 20 20
Goodwill impaired (65) (64)
Fair value loss on investment property (43) (43)

Finance costs (17)

Loss before taxation (104)
Taxation –

Loss for the period (104)

The major tenants are GMG, Premier Capital Managers Ltd, Ciref Europe and Redefine BDL Hotel Group.

30. Non-cancellable operating leases
The Group earns rental income by leasing its investment properties to tenants under non-cancellable operating leases. 
At the period end the Group had contracts with tenants for the following future minimum lease payments:

THE GROUP

2015 2014
£000 £000

Within one year 11,771 –
In the second to fifth year (inclusive) 25,686 –
After five years 89,224 –

126,681 –

31. Ultimate controlling party
The Company’s ultimate parent company and controlling party is Rebosis Property Fund Limited, a company incorporated 
in South Africa.

Copies of theses financial statements are available from the Company Secretary, Osiris Corporate Solutions, 3rd Floor, 
La Croisette, Grand Baie, Mauritius.
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“Asset Manager” or “Waypoint” Waypoint New Frontier Limited, a UK incorporated asset manager, which serves as 
New Frontier’s asset manager

“ Asset Management Agreement” the agreement dated 7 April 2015 between the Company and the Asset Manager, 
in terms of which the Asset Manager will manage the assets of the Company

“AltX” the Alternative Exchange of the JSE

“Billion Group” Billion Group Proprietary Limited, property development and investment group of 
companies including Billion Property Group and Billion Residential

“the Board” The Board of Directors of New Frontier Properties Ltd

“CEO” Chief Executive Officer

“ the Company” or “New Frontier” New Frontier Properties Ltd, incorporated under the law of Mauritius and holding 
a category one Global Business License issued by the FSC

“Constitution” Constitution of the Company dated 5 June 2014

“ERV” Estimated Rental Value

“FD” Financial Director

“FS” the Financial Services Commission of Mauritius

“GBL1” a category one Global Business License issued under the Financial Services Act 2007

“GBP” or “£” Pounds Sterling

“GDP” Gross Domestic Product

“GLA” Gross lettable area, measured in square metres

“IFRS” International Financial Reporting Standards

“IBC” Inside back cover

“JSE” JSE Limited, the South African securities exchange

“JSE Listing” the secondary listing of all the Company’s issued shares on the AltX of the JSE

“King III Report” King Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa 2009

“LTV” Loan-To-Value Ratio

“Mauritian Companies Act” the Mauritian Companies Act 2001 (Act 15 of 2001) as amended

“Mauritius” the Republic of Mauritius

“MUR” or “Rs” the Mauritian Rupee

“Rebosis” Rebosis Properties Limited, a REIT listed on the JSE

“REIT” Real Estate Investment Trust

“ the period” or “the period under 
review”

The period from 1 January to 31 August 2015

“SEM” the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd established under the repealed Stock Exchange 
Act 1988 and now governed by the Securities Act 2005 of Mauritius

“sq ft” Square foot

“UK” United Kingdom

“WAUL” Weighted Average Unexpired Lease

DEFINITIONS
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